UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA GRADUATE COLLEGE

OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM FOR KLEIN-GORDON EQUATION

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE FACULTY

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

QINGHUA LUO Norman, Oklahoma 2012

OPTIMIZATION PROBLEM FOR KLEIN-GORDON EQUATION

A DISSERTATION APPROVED FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS

BY

Dr. Semion Gutman, Chair

Dr. Kevin Grasse

Dr. Shihshu Walter Wei

Dr. Luther White

Dr. Alfred Striz

© Copyright by QINGHUA LUO 2012 All Rights Reserved.

DEDICATION

 to

My Parents

Jinniu Luo and Baozhen Shen

For

Encouraging Me to Pursue My Dreams

Acknowledgements

With deep gratitude and appreciation I would like to give my first acknowledgement to my advisor Dr. Semion Gutman. Dr. Gutman not only teaches me a great deal of mathematics, but also encourages me to explore and work in mathematics. Under his patient guidance and unconditional support, I gradually build up my knowledge in mathematics and mathematical research. To me, Dr. Gutman is not only a great mentor but also a role model of a great mathematics educator. I am grateful to have him as my advisor.

My committee also deserves my acknowledgements in many aspects. I would like to express my sincere thanks to Dr. Kevin Grasse for being so kind and supportive to me, to Dr. Shishu Walter Wei for sharing his knowledge and passion of differential geometry with me, to Dr. Luther White for teaching me a great deal of applied mathematics, and to Dr. Alfred Striz for serving on my committee and always being there for me when needed. Without their unconditional support along the way, I could not have made it this far.

I would also like to thank many other professors in our department. My thanks goes to Dr. Meijun Zhu who helped recruit me to the program and was always willing to give his advice and support without any reservation, to Dr. Keri Kornelson who inspired me to become a woman mathematician, to Dr. John Albert for his kindness and unconditional support, to Dr. Christian Remling who teaches me a great deal of mathematics in my field, to Dr. Leonard Rubin, Dr. Nikola Petrov, Dr. Ralf Schmidt, Dr. Alan Roche and Dr. Noel Brady who are very supportive of me throughout my Ph.D. journey. My academic advisor of Mathematics Education, Dr. Stacy Reeder, deserves my gratitude as well. Dr. Reeder not only enriched my knowledge in mathematics education, but also opened a window for me to explore the world and see things from different perspectives. She is a great mentor and role model to me.

I would like to thank the Department of Mathematics for the financial support over the years. Its support not only allows me to complete my Ph.D. degree in mathematics, but also reduced my financial burden on obtaining my master's degree in mathematics education. I would like to thank Dr. Paul Goodey, Anne Jones, Cristin Sloan for their great service to the department.

To all my friends, who shared joy and struggle with me over the years, I will always cherish our friendship. Especially, I would like give my thanks to Wei Guan who listened to all my complains and gave me all kinds of support when needed, to Lynn Greenleaf who enriched my knowledge of the United State and gave me advice and support in every aspect of my life, to Narayan Thapa who is not only a good friend but also a great mentor, to Suyu Li and her husband, Zhaowen Xing, who helped me a great deal in my life.

Finally, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my family. I could have not made it this far without their love and support. My sister, Qingwei Luo, has been a great role model to me. However, the greatest debt I owe is to my parents. Their deepest love and support is the greatest drive for pursuing my dream.

Table of Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Review of the field	6
3	Problem Setup	10
4	Properties of the Nonlinear Mapping $g(u)$	14
5	Solutions of the Klein-Gordon Problem	20
6	Estimates for Eigenvalues and Eigenfunctions	30
7	Continuity of the Solution Maps	35
8	Gâteaux Differentiability of the Solution Map in ${\cal P}$	40
9	Gâteaux and Fréchet Differentiability of the Objective Function	52
10	Conclusions and Future Work	59

Abstract

In the thesis we consider the damped Klein-Gordon equation with a variable diffusion coefficient:

$$\begin{split} & u_{tt}(t,x) + \alpha u_t(t,x) - \nabla(\beta(x)\nabla u(t,x)) + \delta g(u(t,x)) = f(t,x) \\ & u(t,x)|_{x\in\Gamma} = 0, \quad t\in(0,T) \\ & u(0,x) = y_0(x), \quad u_t(0,x) = y_1(x), \quad x\in\Omega, \end{split}$$

where the nonlinear term is $g(u) = |u|^{\gamma} u$ with the constant γ satisfying

/

$$\begin{cases} 0 \leq \gamma < \infty & \text{if} \quad n = 1, 2, \\ 0 \leq \gamma \leq 2 & \text{if} \quad n = 3, \\ \gamma = 0 & \text{if} \quad n \geq 4. \end{cases}$$

The goal is to derive necessary conditions for the optimal set of parameters $q^* = (\alpha, \beta, \gamma) \in P$ minimizing the objective function $J(q) = ||u(q) - z_d||_{L^2(0,T;H)}^2$. First, we study the nonlinear term g(u) for the different cases of γ , and derive its properties which are crucial to the entire research. Then we show that the solution maps $q \to u(q)$: $P \to L^2(0,T;V)$ and $q \to u'(q)$: $P \to L^2(0,T;H)$ are continuous. Furthermore, the solution map is shown to be weakly Gâteaux differentiable on the admissible set P, implying the Gâteaux differentiability of the objective function. Finally we study the Fréchet differentiability of J and optimal parameters for these problems. Unlike the sine-Gordon equation, which has a bounded nonlinear term, Klein-Gordon equation requires stronger assumptions on the initial data. The further difficulties in mathematical analysis of the equation arise from the unbounded nonlinear term $g(u) = |u|^{\gamma}u$ and the variable diffusion coefficient $\beta(x)$.

Chapter 1

Introduction

In the thesis, we study a damped Klein-Gordon equation with a variable diffusion coefficient. The goal is to derive necessary conditions for the optimal set of parameters minimizing the objective function J.

Klein-Gordon equation has many different forms. Its original form is

$$\frac{1}{c^2}u_{tt} - \Delta u + \frac{m^2c^2}{h^2}u = 0.$$

The equation was named after the physicists Oskar Klein and Walter Gordon, who in 1926 proposed that it describes relativistic electrons. The Klein-Gordon equation is considered a relativistic version of the Schrödinger equation (see [36], [37], and [38]). It is the equation of motion of a quantum scalar or pseudoscalar field, a field whose quanta are spinless particles (see [10], [44]).

Klein-Gordon equation is also used to model the propagation of dislocations in crystals, the behavior of elementary particles, Josephson junctions (see [12], Chapter 8.2 for details), and others. It has been studied extensively. More details of the field are reviewed in the next chapter.

The Klein-Gordon equation studied here is the following.

Let Ω be an open bounded set in \mathbb{R}^n with a sufficiently regular boundary Γ . The damped Klein-Gordon equation with a damping coefficient α , a variable

diffusion coefficient $\beta(x)$, and a magnitude of the nonlinear term $\delta \ge 0$ is

$$u_{tt}(t,x) + \alpha u_t(t,x) - \nabla(\beta(x)\nabla u(t,x)) + \delta g(u(t,x)) = f(t,x) \quad (1.1)$$
$$u(t,x)|_{x\in\Gamma} = 0, \quad t \in (0,T)$$
$$u(0,x) = y_0(x), \quad u_t(0,x) = y_1(x), \quad x \in \Omega,$$

where T > 0, $(t, x) \in Q = (0, T) \times \Omega$. The nonlinear term is assumed to be of the form $g(u) = |u|^{\gamma} u$ with the constant γ satisfying

$$\begin{cases} 0 \le \gamma < \infty & \text{if } n = 1, 2, \\ 0 \le \gamma \le 2 & \text{if } n = 3, \\ \gamma = 0 & \text{if } n \ge 4. \end{cases}$$
(1.2)

The precise statement of the problem will be given in Chapter 3. The Lipschitz continuous diffusion coefficient $\beta(x)$ is assumed to be in $\mathcal{B} \subset C(\Omega)$ where

$$\mathcal{B} = \{\beta(x): \ 0 < \nu \le \beta(x) \le \mu; \ |\beta(x) - \beta(y)| \le C|x - y|, \ x, y \in \Omega\}$$
(1.3)

for some positive constants ν , μ and C. The identification problem for (1.1) is to find the parameters α , $\beta(x)$, and δ such that the solution of (1.1) exhibits the desired behavior. More precisely, let

$$P = \{q = (\alpha, \beta, \delta) \in [\alpha_{\min}, \alpha_{\max}] \times \mathcal{B} \times [\delta_{\min}, \delta_{\max}]\}.$$
 (1.4)

Define the cost functional J(q) by

$$J(q) = \int_{Q} [u(q;t,x) - z_d(t,x)]^2 dx dt, \quad q \in P,$$
(1.5)

where z_d is a given function in $L^2(Q)$. The data z_d can be thought of as the targeted behavior of (1.1). The parameter identification problem for (1.1) with the objective function (1.5) is to find $q^* = (\alpha^*, \beta^*, \delta^*) \in P$ satisfying

$$J(q^*) = \inf_{q \in P} J(q).$$
(1.6)

One of the main results of this thesis is that we prove the existence and uniqueness of the weak solution u of the Klein-Gordon equation,

$$u'' + \alpha u' + A_{\beta}u + \delta g(u) = f$$
, in V' a.e. on $[0, T]$,
 $u(0) = y_0 \in V$, $u'(0) = y_1 \in H$.

Because $\beta(x)$ is not a constant and the operator A_{β} relies on β , we study the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of the operator A_{β} , and prove that the mapping $\beta \to A_{\beta}v$ from \mathcal{B} into V' is continuous. Then we establish the continuity of the solution maps $q \to u(q)$: $P \to C([0,T];V)$ and $q \to u'(q)$: $P \to C([0,T];H)$. Based on the continuity, we prove the Gâteaux differentiability of the solution map in P. Hence we obtain that the objective function $J(q) = ||u(q) - z_d||^2_{L^2(0,T;H)}$ is also Gâteaux differentiable. Furthermore, we prove the Fréchet differentiability of the functional J with respect to the parameters $q \in P$, and give a variational characterization for the minimizers, expressed through the solutions of the state and adjoint systems.

The thesis is organized as follows.

In Chapter 2 we review the research has been done in studying Klein-Gordon equations. We start with how the original Klein-Gordon equation was introduced and its significance in physics. Then we review the research on different forms of nonliear Klein-Gordon equations with and without a damping term. Also we review the research on optimization problems of nonlinear hyperbolic wave equations. In the end we introduce the research that this thesis is mainly based on.

In Chapter 3 we introduce appropriate function spaces with their respective inner products and norms. Because, in general, the Klein-Gordon equation (1.1) does not have a classical solution, we define the weak solution of the equation in an appropriate function space.

In Chapter 4 we study the nonlinear term $g(u) = |u|^{\gamma}u$. Unlike the bounded nonlinear terms sin u in sine-Gordon equations, the nonlinear term $|u|^{\gamma}u$ in the Klein-Gordon equaiton is unbouded. This brings a lot difficulty to the problem. Therefore, we investigate properties of the term which are crucial to the whole problem. The properties of g(u) we derive in Chapter 4 are important for later chapters when we discuss the solution of the Klein-Gordon equation, the continuity and differentiability of the solution map.

In Chapter 5 we derive the energy estimates of the solution of the Klein-Gordon equation (1.1) and hence prove the uniqueness of the solution. The existence of the solution is established by standard Galerkin method.

In Chapter 6 we study the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of the operator A_{β} , and the mapping $\beta \to A_{\beta}v$ from \mathcal{B} into V'. Then, we derive the weak solution for more regular initial conditions of equation (1.1).

In Chapter 7 we prove that the solution maps $q \to u(q)$: $P \to C([0,T];V)$ and $q \to u'(q)$: $P \to C([0,T];H)$ are continuous. In Chapter 8 we define the weak Gâteaux derivative of the solution map $q \rightarrow u(q)$ at q^* in the direction $q - q^*$. Because the diffusion coefficient $\beta(x)$ is not a constant, the standard variational method cannot be used to show the Gâteaux differentiability of the solution map. Instead we show that the weak Gâteaux derivative $z = Du(q^*; q - q^*) \in L^2(0, T; H)$ exists and it is the unique weak solution of the problem

$$z''(t) + \alpha^* z'(t) + A_{\beta^*} z(t) + \delta^* g'(u(t;q^*)) z(t) = f_0(t),$$

$$z(0) = 0, \ z'(0) = 0, \ t \in (0,T),$$

where $f_0(t) = (\alpha^* - \alpha)u'(t; q^*) + (A_{\beta^*} - A_{\beta})u(t; q^*) + (\delta^* - \delta)g(u(t; q^*)).$

In Chapter 9 we show that the objective function $J(q) = ||u(q) - z_d||_{L^2(0,T;H)}^2$ is also Gâteaux and Fréchet differentiable on P. In the end, we derive the equations to optimize parameters.

In Chapter 10 we summarize the main results of the thesis and propose our future work for the topic.

Chapter 2

Review of the field

In the early 20th century, Max Planck, Albert Einstein, De Broglie, Niels Bohr, Erwin Schroedinger, Heisenberg and others achieved a highly successful breakthrough in the world of physics. At that time many physical phenomena, such as photoeletric effect, blackbody radiation, the Zeeman effect, Stark effect, could not be explained by the laws of classical physics. The breakthrough came with the invention of Quantum Mechanics.

Quantum mechanics is very successful in explaining these phenomena, so the theory can model the atom by matching the experimental results. In addition, with the help of Einstein's Special Relativity, quantum mechanics can also explain the phenomenon of nuclear physics, elementary particles, and other physical phenomena which exhibit the small size of the object relative to the displacement. Quantum mechanics with special relativity is known as relativistic quantum mechanics.

Equation of relativistic quantum mechanics called the Klein-Gordon equation is named after Oskar Klein and Walter Gordon, who in 1926 tried to explain properties of electrons using the special relativity theory. Unfortunately, because the electron has spin 1/2, the results were not satisfactory to explain properties of the electron. Nevertheless, the Klein-Gordon equation describes the electron particles without spin or other particles that have integer spins. Its original form is

$$\frac{1}{c^2}u_{tt} - \Delta u + \frac{m^2 c^2}{h^2}u = 0,$$

which is a linear wave equation.

Klein-Gordon equation has many different forms, such as:

$$u_{tt} - \Delta u + m^2 u + g(u) = 0, \qquad (2.1)$$

where g is some nonlinear real-valued equation. It is called nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. And the equation

$$u_{tt} + u_t - \Delta u + m^2 u + g(u) = 0, \qquad (2.2)$$

which has the term u_t , is called nonlinear damped Klein-Gordon equation.

Klein-Gordon equation is used to model many natural phenomena, such as the propagation of dislocations in crystals, the behavior of elementary particles, Josephson junctions (see [12], Chapter 8.2 for details), and others. Mathematically, to study local and long term behavior of a hyperbolic wave equation could be very interesting and challenging. The equation has been studied extensively.

The local existence of nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation has been studied in Nakanishi [41], Huang and Zhang [29], Grundland and Infeld [20], Guan [16], Shatah [46], Duncan [13], and Park and Jeong [42]. The global existence existence and blowing up of the solutions has been studied in Ha and Park [28], Ginibre and Velo [18], [19], Brenner [6], and Gan, Guo and Zhang [15]. The existence of the soliton solutions has been studied in Benci and Fortunato [5], and Bellazzini, Benci and Bonanno [4]. A large amount of work has been devoted to the study of the Cauchy problem for the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation (see [39], [42], [3], [30], [31], [45], [26] and [27]). In numerical aspect, a lot of work also have been done (see [7], [8], [11], [33], [43], [47], [49]).

Recently many works are devoted to study the control and parameter estimation problems for hyperbolic equations (see Ahmed [1],[2], and Lions [34]). However there are not many results on the optimal control theory for the nonlinear damped hyperbolic equations. In Ha and Nakagiri [25],[23],[27], [40] and Ha and Gutman [24], the authors study the optimal control problems and the numerical analysis for the nonlinear control systems described by damped second order equations in a Hilbert space H. For all the equations studied, their nonlinear terms sin y and e^{-ay} are bounded and the associated energy estimates of solutions are rather easily obtained compared with the unbounded nonlinear terms such as polynomials. Since the estimates and differentiations of solutions with respect to control variables are essential in deriving the existence of optimal controls and the necessary optimality conditions, the control problems for unbounded nonlinearities become more difficult than those for bounded nonlinearities.

The thesis is mainly based on the work of J.L. Lions (see [34], [35]), Roger Temam (see [48]), Semion Gutman (see [24],[21]), and Junhong Ha and Shinichi Nakagiri (see [26], [41]). Lions studied linear and nonlinear boundary value problems by using the theory of distributions, and then find ways to numerically approximate their solutions. He developed standard ways to study existence and uniqueness of solutions of partial differential equations with initial/boundary conditions. In [48] (Chapter 4, Section 3), Temam studied the nonlinear wave equation of relativistic quantum mechanics of the form:

$$u_{tt} + \alpha u_t - \Delta u + g(u) = f \quad in \quad \Omega \times R_+,$$

where g is a C^2 function from R to R satisfying some assumptions. Ha and Nakagiri [26] studied identification problem for the damped Klein-Gordon equation with constant parameters. Gutman [24],[21] studied the optimization problem for the damped sine-Gordon equation with a variable diffusion coefficient. In the thesis, we follow the similar approach to the Klein-Gordon equation as in Gutman [24],[21] for sine-Gordon equation. The further difficulties in mathematical analysis arise from the unbounded nonlinear term $g(u) = |u|^{\gamma}u$ and the variable diffusion coefficient $\beta(x)$.

Chapter 3

Problem Setup

Let the Hilbert space $H = L^2(\Omega)$ have the norm |u| and the inner product (u, v). Let the Hilbert space $V = H_0^1(\Omega)$ have the norm ||u|| and the inner product $(\nabla u, \nabla v)$. The dual H' is identified with H leading to $V \subset H \subset V'$ with compact, continuous and dense injections. Hence, there exists a constant $K_1 = K_1(\Omega)$ such that

$$|w| \le K_1 ||w||, \quad \text{for any} \quad w \in V. \tag{3.1}$$

Let $\langle u, v \rangle$ denote the duality pairing between $V = H_0^1(\Omega)$ and $V' = H^{-1}(\Omega)$.

Given $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$, we define the bilinear, continuous and coercive form a_{β} on $V \times V$, and the associated linear operator A_{β} from V to V' by

$$a_{\beta}(u,v) = \int_{\Omega} \beta(x) \nabla u(x) \nabla v(x) dx = \langle A_{\beta}u, v \rangle.$$
(3.2)

Then $a_{\beta}(u, u) \geq \nu ||u||^2$ for any $u \in V$. The bilinear form $a_{\beta}(u, v)$ is an equivalent inner product on V. Let V_{β} denote V with the inner product $((u, v))_{\beta} = a_{\beta}(u, v)$ and the norm $||v||_{\beta}^2 = a_{\beta}(v, v)$. The domain of A_{β} is $D(A_{\beta}) = \{v \in V : A_{\beta}v \in H\}$. Now we prove that $D(A_{\beta}) = H^2(\Omega) \cap V$ for any $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$. We need a result from [17] on the regularity of solutions of linear second order equations.

Theorem 3.1. Let Ω be an open bounded set in \mathbb{R}^n with C^2 boundary $\partial \Omega$. Let

$$Lu = D_i(a^{i,j}(x)D_ju) + b^i(x)u) + c^i(x)D_iu + d(x)u,$$

where the coefficients $a^{i,j}$, b^i , i, j = 1, ..., n are uniformly Lipschitz continuous in Ω , and $\sum a^{i,j}(x)\xi_i\xi_j \geq \lambda |\xi|^2$, for any $x \in \Omega$, $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Suppose that the coefficients $c^i, d, i = 1, ...n$ are essentially bounded in Ω , and $f \in L^2(\Omega)$. Then the weak solution $u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ of the equation Lu = f in Ω satisfies $u \in W^{2,2}(\Omega)$ and

$$||u||_{W^{2,2}(\Omega)} \le C(||u||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + ||f||_{L^{2}(\Omega)}),$$
(3.3)

where $C = C(n, \lambda, K, \partial \Omega)$, and $K = max \{ \|a^{i,j}, b^i\|_{C^{0,1}(\bar{\Omega})}, \|c^i, d\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \}.$

Proof. Operator L is strictly elliptic since $\sum a^{i,j}(x)\xi_i\xi_j \ge \lambda |\xi|^2$ for any $x \in \Omega$, $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$. The result follows from [17], Theorem 8.12.

Theorem 3.2. Let $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$, then $D(A_{\beta}) = H^2(\Omega) \cap V$.

Proof. Let $u \in D(A_{\beta})$. This means that $A_{\beta}u = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\beta(x)u_{x_{i}})_{x_{i}} \in H$. Let $Lu = -A_{\beta}u$, and $f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\beta(x)u_{x_{i}})_{x_{i}}$. Thus Lu = f. For the coefficients of L we have $a^{i,i}(x) = \beta(x)$, $a^{i,j}(x) = 0$ for $i \neq j$, $0 < \nu \leq \beta(x) \leq \mu$, and $\beta(x)$ is uniformly Lipschitz continuous in Ω . Then by Theorem 3.1, $u \in W^{2,2}(\Omega) = H^{2}(\Omega)$. Therefore $D(A_{\beta}) \subseteq H^{2}(\Omega) \cap V$.

For the other direction notice that $\beta(x)$ is Lipschitz continuous. Then by Theorem 5.8.4 in [14], $\beta(x) \in W^{1,\infty}(\Omega) \subset W^{1,2}(\Omega)$. If $u \in H^2(\Omega) \cap V$, then

$$A_{\beta}u = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\beta(x)u_{x_i})_{x_i} = \nabla\beta(x) \cdot \nabla u + \beta(x)\Delta u \in H.$$

This implies $H^2(\Omega) \cap V \subset D(A_\beta)$. Therefore, $D(A_\beta) = H^2(\Omega) \cap V$.

By Theorem 3.2 the domain $D(A_{\beta}) = H^2(\Omega) \cap V$ does not depend on $\beta(x)$. Accordingly, we use the notation D(A) instead of $D(A_{\beta})$ for any $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$.

$$W(0,T) = \{ u : u \in L^2(0,T;V), u' \in L^2(0,T;H), u'' \in L^2(0,T;V') \}, \quad (3.4)$$

and $f \in L^2(0,T;H)$. Function $u \in L^{\infty}(0,T;V) \cap W(0,T)$ is called a weak solution of the damped Klein-Gordon equation (1.1) if

$$u'' + \alpha u' + A_{\beta}u + \delta g(u) = f$$
, in V' a.e. on $[0, T]$, (3.5)
 $u(0) = y_0 \in V$, $u'(0) = y_1 \in H$,

In the sequel, the solution of the Klein-Gordon equation means the weak solution. In this problem the derivatives are understood in the sense of distributions with the values in V', see [35], [9]. A weak solution u of (3.5) is called simply a solution in what follows.

We use the following Lemmas established in [48].

Lemma 3.3. Let $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$, $w \in L^2(0,T;V)$, $w' \in L^2(0,T;H)$ and $w'' + A_\beta w \in L^2(0,T;H)$. Then, after a modification on a set of measure zero, $w \in C([0,T];V)$, $w' \in C([0,T];H)$ and, in the sense of distributions on (0,T) one has

$$(w'' + A_{\beta}w, w') = \frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\{|w'|^2 + ||w||_{\beta}^2\}.$$
(3.6)

Lemma 3.4. Let $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$, $w \in L^2(0,T;D(A))$, $w' \in L^2(0,T;V)$ and $w'' + A_\beta w \in L^2(0,T;V)$. Then, after a modification on a set of measure zero, $w \in C([0,T];D(A))$, $w' \in C([0,T];V)$ and, in the sense of distributions on (0,T) one has

$$((w'' + A_{\beta}w, w'))_{\beta} = \frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\{\|w'\|_{\beta}^{2} + |A_{\beta}w|^{2}\}.$$
(3.7)

Let

Proof. Use Lemma 3.3 with the triple $V \subset H = H' \subset V'$ replaced by $D(A_{\beta}) \subset V_{\beta} = V'_{\beta} \subset H$, see [48], Section 2.4.2.

Lemma 3.5. Let $w \in W_r(0,T)$, where

$$W_r(0,T) = \{ u : u \in L^2(0,T;V), u' \in L^2(0,T;V), u'' \in L^2(0,T;V') \}.$$
 (3.8)

Then, after a modification on a set of measure zero, $w \in C([0,T];V)$, $w' \in C([0,T];H)$ and, in the sense of distributions on (0,T) one has

$$\frac{d}{dt}||w||_{\beta}^{2} = 2a_{\beta}(w',w) = 2\langle A_{\beta}w,w'\rangle, \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{d}{dt}|w'|^{2} = 2\langle w'',w'\rangle.$$
(3.9)

Proof. According to ([48], Lemma 2.3.2), if $u \in L^2(0,T;V)$ and its derivative $u' \in L^2(0,T;V')$, then $u \in C([0,T];H)$ after a modification on a set of measure zero, and it satisfies $d/dt|u|^2 = 2\langle u', u \rangle$. Let $w \in W_r(0,T)$, and u = w'. Then $u \in L^2(0,T;V)$ and $w' \in L^2(0,T;V')$. Therefore we have $w' = u \in C([0,T];H)$, and the second equality in (3.9). For the first equality in (3.9) we can use ([48], Lemma 2.3.2) with V = H = V', since $||w||_{\beta}$ is an equivalent norm in V.

Chapter 4

Properties of the Nonlinear Mapping g(u)

Let $g(t) = |t|^{\gamma}t$, where $t \in R$ and $\gamma \ge 0$. Notice that $g'(t) = (\gamma + 1)|t|^{\gamma}$. We will use the following elementary inequality

$$|g(t) - g(s)| = ||t|^{\gamma}t - |s|^{\gamma}s| \le (\gamma + 1)(|t| + |s|)^{\gamma}|t - s|.$$
(4.1)

Indeed, by the Mean Value Theorem,

$$||t|^{\gamma}t - |s|^{\gamma}s| \le (\gamma + 1)|\theta t + (1 - \theta)s|^{\gamma}|t - s|,$$

and $|\theta t + (1 - \theta)s| \le |t| + |s|$, $0 \le \theta \le 1$.

Lemma 4.1. If $u \in V$, then $|g(u)| \leq c ||u||^{\gamma+1}$. Mapping $g: V \to H$ is locally Lipschitz on V.

Proof. We recall the Sobolev embedding: $V \subset L^q(\Omega)$, for any $1 \leq q < \infty$ if $n = 1, 2; V \subset L^q(\Omega)$, for $1 \leq q \leq 6$ if n = 3 (see [48], II (1.15) and [14], 5.6 Theorem 2). Hence, for $u \in V$, $|g(u)|^2 = \int_{\Omega} |u|^{2\gamma+2} dx = ||u||^{2\gamma+2}_{L^{2\gamma+2}(\Omega)} \leq c||u||^{2(\gamma+1)}$. For the case $n \geq 4$, $|g(u)| = |u| \leq c||u||$.

Now we prove the Lipschitz continuity of g. Assume $u, v \in V$. For $n \ge 4$, the

case is trivial. Let $n \leq 3$. By (4.1),

$$\begin{split} |g(u) - g(v)|^2 &= \int_{\Omega} |g(u) - g(v)|^2 dx \le (\gamma + 1)^2 \int_{\Omega} (|u| + |v|)^{2\gamma} |u - v|^2 dx \\ &\le C \Big(\int_{\Omega} (|u| + |v|)^{3\gamma} dx \Big)^{\frac{2}{3}} \Big(\int_{\Omega} |u - v|^6 dx \Big)^{\frac{1}{3}} \\ &\le C \Big(\int_{\Omega} (|u| + |v|)^{3\gamma} dx \Big)^{\frac{2}{3}} ||u - v||^2. \end{split}$$

If $0 \leq 3\gamma < 1$, then

$$\int_{\Omega} (|u| + |v|)^{3\gamma} dx \le \int_{\Omega} (1 + |u| + |v|)^2 dx \le C \int_{\Omega} (1 + |u|^2 + |v|^2) dx$$
$$\le C(1 + |u|^2 + |v|^2) \le C(1 + ||u||^2 + ||v||^2) \le C(1 + ||u|| + ||v||)^2.$$

If $3\gamma \ge 1$, then

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} (|u|+|v|)^{3\gamma} dx &\leq C \int_{\Omega} (|u|^{3\gamma}+|v|^{3\gamma}) dx = C(\|u\|_{L^{3\gamma}(\Omega)}^{3\gamma}+||v||_{L^{3\gamma}(\Omega)}^{3\gamma}) \\ &\leq C(\|u\|^{3\gamma}+||v||^{3\gamma}) \leq C(||u||+||v||)^{3\gamma}. \end{split}$$

Combining these results, we get

$$|g(u) - g(v)|^2 \le C \left(\int_{\Omega} (|u| + |v|)^{3\gamma} dx \right)^{\frac{2}{3}} ||u - v||^2 \le C (1 + ||u|| + ||v||)^{2\gamma + 2} ||u - v||^2.$$

Lemma 4.2. If $\beta(x) \in \mathcal{B}$ and $u \in D(A)$, then $||g(u)|| \leq C ||u||_{H^2}^{\gamma} ||u||$, where C depends only on Ω .

Proof. By the Sobolev embeddings Theorem (see [48], II (1.12)), $H^2(\Omega) \subset C(\Omega)$ continuously for $n \leq 3$. Therefore, for any $u \in H^2(\Omega) \cap H^1_0(\Omega)$, $||u||_{C(\Omega)} \leq$ $C\|u\|_{H^2},$ for some constant C that depends only on $\Omega.$ Hence,

$$\begin{split} \|g(u)\| &= \int_{\Omega} |\nabla g(u)|^2 dx = \int_{\Omega} |g'(u)\nabla u|^2 dx = (\gamma+1)^2 \int_{\Omega} |u|^{2\gamma} |\nabla u|^2 dx \\ &\leq C \|u\|_{H^2}^{2\gamma} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 dx = C \|u\|_{H^2}^{2\gamma} \|u\|. \end{split}$$

The case of $n \ge 4$ is evident.

Theorem 4.3. If $u_n \to u$ pointwise a.e. on Ω , and $||u_n||, ||u|| \leq C$, for some constant C, then $g(u_n) \rightharpoonup g(u)$ weakly in H, as $n \to \infty$.

Proof. Since $u_n \to u$ pointwise a.e. on Ω , then $g(u_n) \to g(u)$ pointwise a.e. on Ω . By Egoroff's theorem, for any $\epsilon > 0$ there exists a measurable set $E \subset \Omega$ such that $m(E) < \epsilon$ and the convergence $g(u_n)(x) \to g(u)(x)$ is uniform for $x \in \Omega \setminus E$. Therefore, for large n

$$\int_{\Omega} |g(u_n) - g(u)| dx = \int_E + \int_{\Omega \setminus E} \leq \int_E |g(u_n)| dx + \int_E |g(u)| dx + \epsilon.$$

By Lemma 4.1, $|g(v)| \leq c ||v||^{\gamma+1}$. Hence, if $v \in V$, and $||v|| \leq C$, then

$$\int_E |g(v)(x)| dx \le |g(v)| \sqrt{\int_E dx} \le c \|v\|^{\gamma+1} \sqrt{m(E)} < cC^{\gamma+1} \sqrt{\epsilon}$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{\Omega} |g(u_n) - g(u)| dx \le 2cC^{\gamma+1}\sqrt{\epsilon} + \epsilon.$$

Thus,

$$\|g(u_n) - g(u)\|_{L^1(\Omega)} \to 0, \qquad n \to \infty.$$

By Lemma 4.4, it is enough to check the convergence $(g(u_n), p) \rightarrow (g(u), p)$ for

any bounded $p \in H$. For such a $p \in H$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} |(g(u_n), p) - (g(u), p)| &\leq \int_{\Omega} |g(u_n)(x) - g(u)(x)| |p(x)| dx \\ &\leq \|p\|_{\infty} \int_{\Omega} |g(u_n) - g(u)| dx \to 0 \end{aligned}$$

as $n \to \infty$.

Lemma 4.4. If $|f_n|, |f| < C$ and $(f_n, p) \rightarrow (f, p)$ for any bounded function $p \in H$, then $f_n \rightharpoonup f$ weakly in H.

Proof. Let $h \in H$. For each $N \in \mathbb{N}$ define function $h_N \in H$ by $h_N(x) = h(x)$ for $x \in \Omega$ such that $|h(x)| \leq N$, and $h_N(x) = 0$ otherwise. Functions h_N are bounded on Ω , and converge to h in H by Lebesgue's Dominated Convergence theorem. This shows that bounded functions are dense in H.

Let $\epsilon > 0$. Given $h \in H$ choose a bounded function $p \in H$ such that $|h-p| < \epsilon$. Then, for large n

$$|(f_n, h) - (f, h)| = |(f_n - f, h)| \le |(f_n - f, p)| + |(f_n - f, h - p)|$$
$$\le \epsilon + |f_n - f||h - p| \le \epsilon + 2C\epsilon.$$

Theorem 4.5. If $u_n \to u$ in H and $||u_n||, ||u|| \leq C$ for some constant C, then $g(u_n) \rightharpoonup g(u)$ weakly in H.

Proof. Suppose that $g(u_n) \not\rightharpoonup g(u)$ weakly in H. Then there exist $\epsilon > 0$, a subsequence u_k of u_n , and an $h \in H$ such that $|(g(u_k), h) - (g(u), h)| \ge \epsilon$ for any k. On the other hand, since $u_n \to u$ in H, then the same is true for the subsequence

 u_k . The convergence in H implies the convergence in measure $u_k \to u$ on Ω . This, in turn, implies that there is a subsequence of u_k (call it u_k again) that converges to u pointwise a.e. on Ω . By Theorem 4.3 we have $g(u_k) \to g(u)$ weakly in Hcontradicting the assumption.

Theorem 4.6. If $u_n \to u$ in $L^2(0,T;H)$ and $||u_n(t)||, ||u(t)|| \leq C$ for some constant C and any $t \in [0,T]$, then $g(u_n) \rightharpoonup g(u)$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;H)$.

Proof. Suppose that $g(u_n) \not\rightharpoonup g(u)$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;H)$. This means that there exist $\epsilon > 0$, a subsequence u_k of u_n , and an $h \in L^2(0,T;H)$ such that $|(g(u_k) - g(u), h)_{L^2(0,T;H)}| \ge \epsilon$ for any k.

On the other hand, $u_n \to u$ in $L^2(0,T;H)$, as $n \to \infty$. The same is true for the subsequence u_k , i.e. $\int_0^T |u_k(t) - u(t)|^2 dt \to 0$. This implies that u_k converges to u in measure on [0,T] in the space $H = L^2(\Omega)$. This, in turn, implies that there is a subsequence u_m such that $|u_m(t) - u(t)| \to 0$ pointwise a.e. on [0,T]. In other words, $u_m(t) \to u(t)$ in H, a.e on [0,T]. By Theorem 4.5 we have $g(u_m)(t) \to g(u)(t)$ weakly in H for any $t \in [0,T]$. This implies that $(g(u_m)(t) - g(u)(t), h(t)) \to 0$ pointwise a.e. on [0,T]. Let $F_n(t) = (g(u_m)(t) - g(u)(t), h(t))$, then

$$|F_n(t)| \le |g(u_m)(t) - g(u)(t)||h(t)| \le (|g(u_m)(t)| + |g(u)(t))||h(t)| \le C|h(t)|.$$

Here we used the fact that $|g(u_m)(t)| + |g(u)(t)| \le c(||u_m(t)||^{\gamma+1} + ||u(t)||^{\gamma+1}) \le 2cC^{\gamma+1}$. Function |h| is integrable on [0, T], since $|h| \in L^2(0, T)$. Hence

$$(g(u_m) - g(u), h)_{L^2(0,T;H)} \to 0,$$

by the Lebesgue's Dominated Convergence Theorem. This contradicts the as-

sumption.

For convenience we summarize the results of this chapter.

Theorem 4.7. Let $g(u) = |u|^{\gamma}u$ and γ is assumed to satisfy

$$\begin{cases} 0 \le \gamma < \infty & if \quad n = 1, 2, \\ 0 \le \gamma \le 2 & if \quad n = 3, \\ \gamma = 0 & if \quad n \ge 4. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.2)$$

Then, we have $g'(u) = (\gamma + 1)|u|^{\gamma}$, and

(i) If n = 1, 2, then we have the Sobolev embedding $V \subset L^q(\Omega)$, where $1 \leq q < \infty$. If n = 3, then we have the Sobolev embedding $V \subset L^q(\Omega)$, where $1 \leq q \leq 2\gamma + 2$. Therefore, we have, for n = 1, 2, 3 and $u \in V$, the Sobolev inequality

$$||u||_{L^q(\Omega)} \le C||u||,$$
(4.3)

where $1 \leq q \leq 2\gamma + 2$.

(ii) If $u \in V$, then $|g(u)| \leq C ||u||^{\gamma+1}$ and $g: V \to H$ is locally Lipschitz with

$$|g(u) - g(v)| \le C(1 + ||u|| + ||v||)^{\gamma+1} ||u - v||,$$
(4.4)

where $u, v \in V$.

(iii) If $\beta(x) \in \mathcal{B}$ and $u \in D(A)$, then $||g(u)|| \leq C ||u||_{H^2(\Omega)}^{\gamma} ||u||$, where C depends only on Ω .

(iv) If $u_n \to u$ in $L^2(0,T;H)$ and $||u_n(t)||, ||u(t)|| \leq C$ for some constant Cand any $t \in [0,T]$, then $g(u_n) \rightharpoonup g(u)$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;H)$.

Chapter 5

Solutions of the Klein-Gordon Problem

The existence and the uniqueness of the solutions for (3.5) is established using standard Galerkin method. Our goal here is to establish the convergence estimate (5.14). We also ascertain the uniformity of the estimates with respect to the parameters $q \in P$. Everywhere in the sequel c > 0 denotes various constants that depend only on the bounds of the admissible set P.

Lemma 5.1. Let $u \in W(0,T) \cap L^{\infty}(0,T;V)$ be a solution of the damped Klein-Gordon problem

$$u'' + \alpha u' + A_{\beta}u + \delta g(u) = f, \quad f \in L^{2}(0, T; H)$$

$$u(0) = y_{0} \in V, \quad u'(0) = y_{1} \in H.$$
(5.1)

Then

$$|u'(t)|^2 + ||u(t)||^2 \le cI,$$
(5.2)

for any $t \in [0, T]$, where

$$I = |y_1|^2 + ||y_0||^2 + ||y_0||^{\gamma+2} + ||f||^2_{L^2(0,T;H)}.$$
(5.3)

Proof. By the definition of the weak solution we have $u \in L^{\infty}(0, T; V)$. Therefore,

 $g(u)\in L^\infty(0,T;H)\subset L^2(0,T;H)$ by Theorem 4.1. Then

$$u'' + A_{\beta}u = f - \alpha u' - \delta g(u) \in L^2(0, T; H).$$

Multiply both sides by u' to get

$$(u'' + A_{\beta}u, u') + \delta(|u|^{\gamma}u, u') = (f, u') - \alpha(u', u').$$

By Lemma 3.3 and $\int_\Omega |u|^\gamma u u' dx = \frac{1}{\gamma+2} \frac{d}{dt} \int_\Omega |u|^{\gamma+2} dx$, we have

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\{|u'|^2 + \|u\|_{\beta}^2\} + \frac{\delta}{\gamma+2}\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\Omega}|u|^{\gamma+2}dx = (f,u') - \alpha|u'|^2.$$

Integrating both sides from 0 to t we get

$$\begin{aligned} |u'(t)|^2 + ||u(t)||_{\beta}^2 + \frac{2\delta}{\gamma+2} ||u(t)||_{L^{\gamma+2}(\Omega)}^{\gamma+2} + 2\alpha \int_0^t |u'(s)|^2 ds \\ &= |y_1|^2 + ||y_0||_{\beta}^2 + \frac{2\delta}{\gamma+2} ||y_0||_{L^{\gamma+2}(\Omega)}^{\gamma+2} + 2\int_0^t (f(s), u'(s)) ds. \end{aligned}$$

It follows readily from the inequality

$$2\int_{0}^{t} (f(s), u'(s))ds \le \int_{0}^{t} |f(s)|^{2}ds + \int_{0}^{t} |u'(s)|^{2}ds$$

that

$$|u'(t)|^{2} + ||u(t)||^{2} \le C\Big(|y_{1}|^{2} + ||y_{0}||^{2} + ||y_{0}||^{\gamma+2}_{L^{\gamma+2}(\Omega)} + ||f||^{2}_{L^{2}(0,T;H)} + \int_{0}^{t} |u'(s)|^{2} ds\Big).$$

By the Sobolev inequality (4.3), we have $\|y_0\|_{L^{\gamma+2}(\Omega)} \leq c \|y_0\|$. Therefore, by

Gronwall's Lemma (see [14], section B.2)

$$|u'(t)|^{2} + ||u(t)||^{2} \le c(|y_{1}|^{2} + ||y_{0}||^{2} + ||y_{0}||^{\gamma+2} + ||f||^{2}_{L^{2}(0,T;H)}) = cI.$$

Lemma 5.2. (i). Let u_i , i = 1, 2 be two solutions of the damped Klein-Gordon problem

$$u_i'' + \alpha u_i' + A_\beta u_i + \delta g(u_i) = f_i, \quad f_i \in L^2(0, T; H)$$

$$u_i(0) = y_{0,i} \in V, \quad u_i'(0) = y_{1,i} \in H.$$
(5.4)

Then

$$|u_{2}'(t) - u_{1}'(t)|^{2} + ||u_{2}(t) - u_{1}(t)||^{2} \\ \leq C(I_{1}, I_{2})(||y_{0,2} - y_{0,1}||^{2} + ||y_{1,2} - y_{1,1}|^{2} + ||f_{2} - f_{1}||_{L^{2}(0,T;H)}^{2})$$
(5.5)

for any $t \in [0,T]$, where $I_i = |y_{1,i}|^2 + ||y_{0,i}||^2 + ||y_{0,i}||^{\gamma+2} + ||f||^2_{L^2(0,T;H)}$, and i = 1, 2.

(ii). The solution of the damped Klein-Gordon problem (5.1) is unique.

Proof. Let u be a solution of the equation (5.1). Then $||u(t)|| \le c\sqrt{I}$, where $c\sqrt{I}$ is not dependent on t by Lemma 5.1.

To show (i), notice that the difference $w = u_2 - u_1$ satisfies

$$w'' + A_{\beta}w = -\alpha w' - \delta(g(u_2) - g(u_1)) + f_2 - f_1 \in L^2(0, T; H).$$

Multiplying both sides by w' and using Lemma 3.3, we get

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\{|w'|^2 + \|w\|_{\beta}^2\} = -\alpha|w'|^2 - \delta(g(u_2) - g(u_1), w') + (f_2 - f_1, w').$$
(5.6)

Integrating over [0, t], $0 < t \le T$ and using estimate (3.1) gives

$$|w'(t)|^{2} + ||w(t)||_{\beta}^{2} = |w'(0)|^{2} + ||w(0)||_{\beta}^{2} - 2\alpha \int_{0}^{t} |w'(s)|^{2} ds$$
$$- 2\delta \int_{0}^{t} (g(u_{2}(s)) - g(u_{1}(s)), w'(s)) ds + 2\int_{0}^{t} (f_{2}(s) - f_{1}(s), w'(s)) ds.$$

The Lipschitz continuity of g(u) and (4.4) imply

$$\begin{split} |w'(t)|^2 + ||w(t)||_{\beta}^2 &\leq |w'(0)|^2 + ||w(0)||_{\beta}^2 + C_1 \int_0^t |w'(s)| ds \\ &+ C_2 \int_0^t (1 + ||u_1|| + ||u_2||)^{2\gamma+2} ||u_1 - u_2||^2 ds + \int_0^t |f_2 - f_1|^2 ds. \end{split}$$

By Lemma 5.1

$$\begin{split} |w'(t)|^2 + ||w(t)||_{\beta}^2 &\leq |w'(0)|^2 + ||w(0)||_{\beta}^2 + C_1 \int_0^t |w'(s)| ds \\ &+ C_2' (1 + I_1 + I_2)^{\gamma + 1} \int_0^t ||u_1 - u_2||^2 ds + \int_0^t |f_2 - f_1|^2 ds. \end{split}$$

Gronwall's Lemma ([14], Section B.2) implies (5.5).

Part (ii) follows from (5.5), since in this case the initial conditions are the same, and $f_1 = f_2$.

Now we establish the existence of a weak solution for Klein-Gordon equation (3.5). Let $\{\lambda_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ and $\{w_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be the eigenvalues and the eigenfunctions of the operator A_{β} in V, such that $\{w_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ form an orthonormal basis in H. Then $\{w_k/\sqrt{\lambda_k}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ form an orthonormal basis in V_{β} , see [14], Chap. 6.

Fix $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $V_m = span\{w_1, ..., w_m\}$. Define

$$P_m h = \sum_{k=1}^m (h, w_k) w_k, \quad h \in H.$$
 (5.7)

Then $P_m : H \to V_m$ is an orthogonal projection in H with $|P_m h| \le |h|$ for any $h \in H$. It is also an orthogonal projection in V_β with $||P_m v||_\beta \le ||v||_\beta$, $v \in V$. Note that P_m is dependent on β .

The approximate solution of (3.5) is defined to be a function $u_m \in W(0,T) \cap$ $L^{\infty}(0,T;V)$ that satisfies

$$u''_{m} + \alpha u'_{m} + A_{\beta} u_{m} + \delta P_{m} g(u_{m}) = P_{m} f, \quad \text{in } V',$$

$$u_{m}(0) = P_{m} y_{0}, \quad u'_{m}(0) = P_{m} y_{1}.$$
(5.8)

Lemma 5.3. Equation (5.8) has a unique solution u_m satisfying $u_m(t) \in V_m$, $u_m, u'_m \in C([0,T]; V)$, and

$$\max_{0 \le t \le T} \left(\|u_m(t)\|^2 + |u'_m(t)|^2 \right) + \|u''_m(\cdot)\|^2_{L^2(0,T;V')} \le c(I + I^{\gamma+1}),$$
(5.9)

where I is defined as in (5.3).

Proof. The uniqueness is established as in Lemma 5.2. Let $z_m(t) = \sum_{k=1}^m g_{km}(t) w_k$

satisfy

$$(z''_m, w_k) + \alpha(z'_m, w_k) + a_\beta(z_m, w_k) + \delta(g(z_m), w_k) = (f, w_k),$$
(5.10)
$$z_m(0) = P_m y_0, \quad z'_m(0) = P_m y_1$$

for $1 \leq k \leq m$. For each $m \in \mathbb{N}$ this is a Cauchy problem for the system of ordinary differential equations that has a unique solution $z_m(t)$ with $z_m, z'_m \in C([0,T];V)$ and $z''_m \in L^2([0,T];V)$. To see that the solution $z_m(t)$ also satisfies (5.8) it is enough to establish that

$$\langle z_m'' + \alpha z_m' + A_\beta z_m + \delta P_m g(z_m), w_k \rangle = \langle P_m f, w_k \rangle$$
(5.11)

for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$. But for $1 \le k \le m$, equations (5.11) are the same as (5.10), and for k > m equations (5.11) are reduced to 0 = 0, because w_k are the eigenfunctions of the operator A_β . The uniqueness of u_m implies $u_m = z_m$.

To obtain estimate (5.9) multiply both sides in (5.8) by u'_m to get

$$(u''_m, u'_m) + (A_\beta u_m, u'_m) + \delta(P_m g(u_m), u'_m) = -\alpha(u'_m, u'_m) + (P_m f, u'_m)$$

Notice that $(P_m g(u_m), u'_m) = (g(u_m), P_m u'_m) = (g(u_m), u'_m)$. Similarly to the proof of Lemma 5.1, we have

$$||u_m(t)||^2 + |u'_m(t)|^2 \le cI_m,$$

where $I_m = |P_m y_1|^2 + ||P_m y_0||^2 + ||P_m y_0||^{\gamma+2} + ||P_m f||^2_{L^2(0,T;H)}$. Notice that $I_m \leq I$

for any m. Hence, we obtain

$$\max_{0 \le t \le T} \left(\|u_m(t)\|^2 + |u'_m(t)|^2 \right) \le cI,$$
(5.12)

for any m. Let $v \in V$ with $||v|| \le 1$. Then

$$\langle u_m'', v \rangle = -\alpha(u_m', v) - \langle A_\beta u_m, v \rangle - \delta(P_m g(u_m), v) + (P_m f, v).$$

Using $|v| \leq K_1 ||v|| = K_1$ we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle u_m'', v \rangle| &\leq K_1 \max\{|\alpha_{min}|, |\alpha_{max}|\} |u_m'| + \mu ||u_m|| + K_1 \delta_{max} ||u_m||_{L^{2\gamma+2}}^{\gamma+1} + K_1 |f| \\ &\leq K_1 \max\{|\alpha_{min}|, |\alpha_{max}|\} |u_m'| + \mu ||u_m|| + CK_1 \delta_{max} ||u_m||^{\gamma+1} + K_1 |f|. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore

$$\|u_m''\|_{V'}^2 \le c(|f|^2 + |u_m'|^2 + \|u_m\|^2 + \|u_m\|^{2\gamma+2}),$$

and the energy estimate (5.9) follows from (5.12).

Theorem 5.4. Let $q \in P$, $y_0 \in V$, $y_1 \in H$, $f \in L^2(0,T;H)$, and I is defined as in (5.3). Then

(i). There exists a unique solution u(t) = u(t;q) of (3.5). This solution satisfies $u \in C([0,T];V) \cap W(0,T)$, $u' \in C([0,T];H)$, and

$$\max_{0 \le t \le T} \left(\|u(t)\|^2 + |u'(t)|^2 \right) + \|u''(t)\|_{L^2(0,T;V')}^2 \le c(I + I^{\gamma+1}).$$
(5.13)

(ii). The solution u(t) = u(t;q) and its approximations $u_m(t) = u_m(t;q)$ satisfy

the following convergence estimate

$$|u'(t) - u'_{m}(t)|^{2} + ||u(t) - u_{m}(t)||^{2} \le c(I) \Big(|y_{1} - P_{m}y_{1}|^{2} + ||y_{0} - P_{m}y_{0}||^{2} + ||f - P_{m}f||^{2}_{L^{2}(0,T;H)} + \int_{0}^{t} |g(u(s;q)) - P_{m}g(u(s;q))|^{2} ds \Big).$$
(5.14)

(iii). Furthermore, $u_m \to u$ in C([0,T];V), and $u'_m \to u'$ in C([0,T];H) as $m \to \infty$.

Proof. The uniqueness of the solutions for (3.5) is already established in Lemma 5.2. The existence is proved using standard methods, see [48], Section 4.4.4. That is, the energy estimate (5.9) shows that the approximate solutions u_m , $m \in \mathbb{N}$ remain within a bounded ball of the Hilbert space W(0,T). Therefore we can choose a subsequence u_{m_k} such that

$$u_{m_k} \rightharpoonup z \text{ in } L^2(0,T;V), \quad u'_{m_k} \rightharpoonup z' \text{ in } L^2(0,T;H), \quad u''_{m_k} \rightharpoonup z'' \text{ in } L^2(0,T;V'),$$

(5.15)

as $m_k \to \infty$, where \rightharpoonup denotes the weak convergence. Furthermore, estimate (5.9) shows that we can also assume that $u_{m_k} \rightharpoonup z$ weak-star in $L^{\infty}(0,T;V)$ and $u'_{m_k} \rightharpoonup z'$ weak-star in $L^{\infty}(0,T;H)$. Since V is compactly embedded in H, $u_{m_k} \to z$ in $L^2(0,T;H)$. By Theorem (4.6), $g(u_{m_k}) \rightharpoonup g(z)$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;H)$. Therefore, for any $h \in L^2(0,T;V)$, we have

$$\langle u_{m_k}'', h \rangle + \alpha \langle u_{m_k}', h \rangle + \langle A_\beta u_{m_k}, h \rangle + \delta \langle g(u_{m_k}), h \rangle$$
$$\longrightarrow \quad \langle z'', h \rangle + \alpha \langle z, h \rangle + \langle A_\beta z, h \rangle + \delta \langle g(z), h \rangle,$$

as $m_k \to \infty$.

That is $z'' + \alpha z' + A_{\beta} z + \delta g(z) = f$ in $L^2(0,T;V')$. Furthermore, we have
$z(0) = y_0$ and $z'(0) = y_1$. For the details of the proof see [14, 48].

Thus z is a solution of (3.5). Since the solution of (3.5) is unique, we have $u_m \to z$ for the entire sequence u_m and not just for its subsequence u_{m_k} .

Rewrite (3.5) as $u'' + A_{\beta}u = f - \alpha u' - \delta g(u)$. Hence $u'' + A_{\beta}u \in L^2(0, T; H)$. Rewrite (5.8) as $u''_m + A_{\beta}u_m = P_m f - \alpha u'_m - \delta P_m g(u_m)$. Hence $u''_m + A_{\beta}u_m \in L^2(0, T; H)$. For the difference $u - u_m$ we have

$$(u - u_m)'' + A_\beta (u - u_m)$$

= $f - P_m f - \alpha (u - u_m)' - \delta(g(u) - P_m g(u_m)) \in L^2(0, T; H).$ (5.16)

By Lemma 3.3,

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\{|u'-u'_m|^2 + a_\beta(u-u_m, u-u_m)\}\$$

= $(f - P_m f, (u-u_m)') - \alpha |(u-u_m)'|^2 - \delta \Big(g(u) - P_m g(u_m), u'-u'_m\Big).$

Integration on [0, t] gives

$$\begin{aligned} |u'(t) - u'_m(t)|^2 + a_\beta(u(t) - u_m(t), u(t) - u_m(t)) &\leq c \Big(|y_1 - P_m y_1|^2 \\ &+ a_\beta(y_0 - P_m y_0, y_0 - P_m y_0) + \|f - P_m f\|_{L^2(0,T;H)}^2 + \int_0^t |u' - u'_m|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t |g(u) - P_m g(u)|^2 ds + \int_0^t |P_m(g(u) - g(u_m))|^2 ds \Big). \end{aligned}$$

Furthermore, using $|v| \leq K_1 ||v||$ and

$$|g(u) - g(u_m)|^2 \le C(1 + ||u|| + ||u_m||)^{2\gamma+2} ||u - u_m||^2,$$

we get

$$\begin{aligned} |u'(t) - u'_m(t)|^2 + ||u(t) - u_m(t)||^2 &\leq c(I) \Big(|y_1 - P_m y_1|^2 \\ &+ ||y_0 - P_m y_0||^2 + ||f - P_m f||^2_{L^2(0,T;H)} + \int_0^t |g(u) - P_m g(u)|^2 ds \\ &+ \int_0^t |u'(s) - u'_m(s)|^2 ds + \int_0^t ||u(s) - u_m(s)||^2 ds \Big). \end{aligned}$$

Now the Gronwall's Lemma gives the convergence estimate (5.14).

By the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem, the right side of (5.14) approaches zero as $m \to \infty$. This implies that $u_m \to u$ in $L^{\infty}(0,T;V)$ and $u'_m \to u'$ in $L^{\infty}(0,T;H)$. Since $u_m, u'_m \in C([0,T];V)$ we conclude that $u \in C([0,T];V)$, and $u' \in C([0,T];H)$ after a modification on a set of measure zero in [0,T]. \Box

Chapter 6

Estimates for Eigenvalues and Eigenfunctions

Definition 6.1. Let $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$, and $\lambda_k(\beta)$ and $w_k(\beta)$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$ be the eigenvalues and the normalized in H eigenfunctions of the operator A_β defined in (3.2).

Denote by Λ_k , $k \in \mathbb{N}$ the eigenvalues of the negative Dirichlet Laplacian $-\Delta = A_\beta$ with $\beta = 1$.

The following four lemmas are from [22].

Lemma 6.2. Let $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$. Then

$$\nu \Lambda_k \le \lambda_k(\beta) \le \mu \Lambda_k \tag{6.1}$$

for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Recall the Courant Minimax Principle

$$\lambda_k(\beta) = \min_{V_k} \max_{v \in V_k} \frac{a_\beta(v, v)}{\|v\|^2},$$

where V_k varies over all k-dimensional subspaces of V, see [32], Chapter 6. Since $\nu \leq \beta \leq \mu$ for any $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$, the Minimax Principle implies that $\lambda_k(\nu) \leq \lambda_k(\beta) \leq \lambda_k(\mu)$. But $\nu = const$, so $\lambda_k(\nu) = \nu \Lambda_k$. Similarly, $\lambda_k(\mu) = \mu \Lambda_k$.

Lemma 6.3. Let $v \in D(A)$, $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$, then

$$\|v\|_{\beta} \leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{\nu\Lambda_1}} |A_{\beta}v|, \text{ and } \|v\| \leq \frac{1}{\nu\sqrt{\Lambda_1}} |A_{\beta}v|.$$
 (6.2)

Proof. We have $v = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (v, w_k(\beta)) w_k(\beta)$ in V. Therefore

$$||v||_{\beta}^{2} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{k}(\beta) |(v, w_{k}(\beta))|^{2}.$$
(6.3)

By [48], Section 2.2.1,

$$|A_{\beta}(v)|^{2} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{k}^{2}(\beta) |(v, w_{k}(\beta))|^{2}.$$
(6.4)

Using Lemma 6.2, and $\lambda_{m+1}(\beta) \leq \lambda_k(\beta)$ for $k \geq m+1$ we get

$$\nu\Lambda_1 \|v\|_{\beta}^2 \le \lambda_1(\beta) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k(\beta) |(v, w_k(\beta))|^2 \le |A_{\beta}v|^2, \tag{6.5}$$

Since $\nu \|v\|^2 \le \|v\|_{\beta}^2$, we establish (6.2).

Recall that \mathcal{B} is equipped with the $C(\overline{\Omega})$ topology.

Lemma 6.4. Let $v \in V$. Then the mapping $\beta \to A_{\beta}v$ from \mathcal{B} into V' is continuous.

Proof. Suppose that $\beta_n \to \beta$ in \mathcal{B} as $n \to \infty$. We denote $A = A_\beta$ and $A_n = A_{\beta_n}$. Our goal is to show that $||(A_n - A)v||_{V'} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Let $w \in V$ with $||w|| \le 1$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle (A_n - A)v, w \rangle|^2 &\leq \left(\int_{\Omega} |\beta_n(x) - \beta(x)| |\nabla v(x)| |\nabla w(x)| dx \right)^2 \quad (6.6) \\ &\leq \|\beta_n(x) - \beta(x)\|_{\infty}^2 \|v\|^2 \to 0, \quad as \quad n \to \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Lemma 6.5. Suppose that $\beta_n \to \beta$ in \mathcal{B} , and $v_n \rightharpoonup v$ weakly in V, as $n \to \infty$. Then $A_n v_n \rightharpoonup Av$ weakly in V'.

Proof. Let $w \in V$, then

$$|\langle A_n v_n, w \rangle - \langle Av, w \rangle| = |\langle A_n w, v_n \rangle - \langle Aw, v \rangle|$$

$$\leq |\langle (A_n - A)w, v_n \rangle| + |\langle Aw, v_n - v \rangle|.$$
(6.7)

Since a weakly convergent sequence is bounded, for the first term we have

$$|\langle (A_n - A)w, v_n \rangle| \le ||A_n w - Aw||_{V'} ||v_n|| \le c ||A_n w - Aw||_{V'} \to 0$$

as $n \to \infty$ by Lemma 6.4. The second term $|\langle Aw, v_n - v \rangle| \to 0$ since $v_n \rightharpoonup v$ weakly in V, as $n \to \infty$.

An additional regularity of the weak solution u of (3.5) is obtained under more restrictive conditions on y_0, y_1 and f.

Theorem 6.6. If $f \in L^2(0,T;V)$, $y_0 \in D(A)$, and $y_1 \in V$, then the solution uof (3.5) satisfies $u \in C([0,T];D(A))$, $u' \in C([0,T];V)$, and

$$\max_{0 \le t \le T} (|A_{\beta}u(t)|^2 + ||u'(t)||^2) \le C(I) \Big(|A_{\beta}y_0|^2 + ||y_1||^2 + \int_0^T ||f(s)||^2 ds \Big).$$
(6.8)

Furthermore, the solution u and its approximations u_m satisfy the following convergence estimate

$$\max_{0 \le t \le T} (|A_{\beta}(u(t) - u_m(t))|^2 + ||u'(t) - u'_m(t)||^2) \le C(I) \Big(|A_{\beta}(y_0 - P_m y_0)|^2 \\
+ ||y_1 - P_m y_1||^2 + ||f - P_m f||^2_{L^2(0,T;V)} + \int_0^t ||g(u(s;q)) - P_m g(u(s;q))||^2_{\beta} ds \Big).$$
(6.9)

Proof. Equality

$$((u''_m + A_\beta u_m, u'_m))_\beta = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \left[|A_\beta u_m|^2 + ||u'_m||_\beta^2 \right]$$
(6.10)

is verified by substituting $u_m(t) = \sum_{k=1}^m g_{km}(t)w_k$ into it, and recalling that the eigenfunctions $\{w_k/\sqrt{\lambda_k}\}_{k=1}^\infty$ form an orthonormal basis in V_β . It also follows from Lemma 3.4.

Take the $((\cdot, \cdot))_{\beta}$ inner product of both sides of (5.8) with u'_m , use equality (6.10), and integrate the result on interval [0, t] to obtain

$$|A_{\beta}u_{m}|^{2} + ||u_{m}'||_{\beta}^{2} = |A_{\beta}P_{m}y_{0}|^{2} + ||P_{m}y_{1}||_{\beta}^{2} + 2\int_{0}^{t} [-\alpha||u_{m}'(s)||_{\beta}^{2} - 2\delta((g(u_{m}(s)), u_{m}'(s)))_{\beta} + ((f(s), u_{m}'(s)))_{\beta}]ds.$$
(6.11)

Since $A_{\beta}P_m = P_m A_{\beta}$, $||P_m v||_{\beta} \le ||v||_{\beta}$, similarly to Lemma 4.2 we have $||g(u_m)||_{\beta} \le C||u_m||_{H^2}^{\gamma}||u_m||_{\beta}$. By (3.3) and energy estimate (5.9), we have $||u_m||_{H^2} \le C(I)$, where C(I) does not depend on m. Hence,

$$|((P_mg(u_m), u'_m))_{\beta}| \le ||P_mg(u_m)||_{\beta}||u'_m||_{\beta}$$
$$\le ||g(u_m)||_{\beta}||u'_m||_{\beta} \le C(I)(||u_m||_{\beta}^2 + ||u'_m||_{\beta}^2).$$

Therefore, we get

$$|A_{\beta}u_{m}|^{2} + ||u_{m}'||^{2} \leq C(I) \Big(|A_{\beta}y_{0}|^{2} + ||y_{1}||^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} [||u_{m}'(s)||^{2} + ||u_{m}(s)||^{2}] ds + \int_{0}^{t} ||f(s)||^{2} ds \Big). \quad (6.12)$$

Use (6.2) to estimate $||u_m(s)||^2 \leq c |A_\beta u_m|^2$. Then Gronwall's inequality gives

$$\max_{0 \le t \le T} (|A_{\beta}u_m(t)|^2 + ||u_m'(t)||^2) \le C(I) \left(|A_{\beta}y_0|^2 + ||y_1||^2 + \int_0^T ||f(s)||^2 ds \right)$$
(6.13)

for any $t \in [0, T]$. Estimate (6.13) shows that $\{u_m, u'_m\}$, $m \in \mathbb{N}$ remains within a bounded ball in $L^2(0, T; D(A)) \times L^2(0, T; V)$. Let $\{z, z'\}$ be a weak limit point of this sequence in $L^2(0, T; D(A)) \times L^2(0, T; V)$. By Theorem 5.4, $u_m \to u$ in C([0, T]; V), and $u'_m \to u'$ in C([0, T]; H) as $m \to \infty$. Therefore $\{z, z'\} = \{u, u'\}$. Thus u satisfies (6.8).

The difference $u - u_m$ satisfies

$$(u - u_m)'' + A_\beta (u - u_m)$$

= $f - P_m f - \alpha (u - u_m)' - \delta(g(u) - P_m g(u_m)) \in L^2(0, T; V).$ (6.14)

Multiplication of (6.14) by $u' - u'_m \in L^2(0,T;V)$, Lemma 3.4, and Gronwall's inequality give the convergence estimate (6.9). Now,

$$|A_{\beta}(y_0 - P_m y_0)| = |(I - P_m)A_{\beta}(y_0)|, \text{ and } A_{\beta}(y_0) \in H$$

Therefore this equality and (6.9) imply that $u_m \to u$ in C([0,T]; D(A)), and $u'_m \to u'$ in C([0,T]; V) as $m \to \infty$. The Theorem follows.

Chapter 7

Continuity of the Solution Maps

The main goal of this chapter is to prove the continuity of the mapping $q \to u(q)$ for $q \in P$. Recall that \mathcal{B} is equipped with the $C(\overline{\Omega})$ topology.

Theorem 7.1. Let u(q), $q \in P$ be the solution of the Klein-Gordon problem (3.5). Then the solution maps $q \to u(q) : P \to C([0,T];V)$ and $q \to u'(q) : P \to C([0,T];H)$ are continuous.

Proof. Let $q = (\alpha, \beta, \delta) \in P$, and $q_n = (\alpha_n, \beta_n, \delta_n) \in P$. Denote $A_n = A_{\beta_n}$. Suppose that $q_n \to q$ in P, as $n \to \infty$. First, assume that $f \in L^2(0, T; V)$, $y_0 \in D(A)$ and $y_1 \in V$. Consider Klein-Gordon problems

$$v''(q) + \alpha v'(q) + A_{\beta}v(q) + \delta g(v(q)) = f$$

$$v(0;q) = y_0, \quad v'(0;q) = y_1,$$
(7.1)

and

$$v''(q_n) + \alpha_n v'(q_n) + A_n v(q_n) + \delta_n g(v(q_n)) = f$$

$$v(0; q_n) = y_0, \quad v'(0; q_n) = y_1.$$
(7.2)

Let $w = v(q_n) - v(q)$, then

$$w'' + A_n w = (A_\beta - A_n)v(q) - \alpha_n w' + (\alpha - \alpha_n)v'(q) - \delta_n(g(v(q_n)) - g(v(q))) + (\delta - \delta_n)g(v(q)), \quad (7.3)$$

with w(0) = 0 and w'(0) = 0. By Theorem 5.8.4 in [14], we have $\beta_n(x) \in W^{1,\infty}(\Omega) \subset W^{1,2}(\Omega)$. Also $y_0 \in D(A) \subset H^2(\Omega)$. Therefore, we get

$$|A_n y_0|^2 = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \beta_n(x) \cdot \nabla y_0 + \beta_n(x) \bigtriangleup y_0|^2 dx \le L$$
(7.4)

for some constant L independent on β , but dependent on y_0 . By estimate (6.8) of Theorem 6.6 and estimate (7.4) we get

$$||w'(t)||^{2} = ||v'(t,q_{n}) - v'(t,q)||^{2} \le 2(||v'(q_{n})||^{2} + ||v'(q)||^{2})$$

$$\le C(I) \left(|A_{n}y_{0}|^{2} + |Ay_{0}|^{2} + ||y_{1}||^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} ||f(s)||^{2} ds \right)$$

$$\le C(I) \left(L^{2} + ||y_{1}||^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} ||f(s)||^{2} ds \right).$$
(7.5)

By energy estimate (6.8) we have $v(q), v(q_n) \in W_r(0,T)$. Therefore $w \in W_r(0,T)$, and we can use Lemma 3.5 to derive

$$\langle w'', w' \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} |w'|^2$$
, and $\langle A_n w, w' \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} ||w||_n^2$.

By (4.4) of Theorem 4.7 and energy estimate (5.13), we have

$$|g(v(q_n)) - g(v(q))|^2 \le C(||v(q_n)|| + ||v(q)||)^{2\gamma} ||u(q_n) - v(q)||^2 \le C(I) ||v(q_n) - v(q)||^2.$$

Multiply (7.3) by $w' \in L^2(0,T;V)$, and integrate it on [0,t] to get

$$\int_{0}^{t} \langle w'', w' \rangle ds + \int_{0}^{t} \langle A_{n}w, w' \rangle ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} \langle (A_{n} - A)v(q), w' \rangle ds + (\alpha - \alpha_{n}) \int_{0}^{t} \langle v'(q), w' \rangle ds$$
$$+ \delta_{n} \int_{0}^{t} \langle (g(v(q_{n})) - g(v(q)), w' \rangle ds + (\delta - \delta_{n}) \int_{0}^{t} \langle g(v(q)), w' \rangle ds. \quad (7.6)$$

By Lemma 4.1 and estimate (7.6), we get

$$|w'(t)|^{2} + ||w(t)||^{2} \leq C(I) \Big(\int_{0}^{t} ||(A - A_{n})v(s;q)||_{V'} ||w'(s)|| ds + |\alpha - \alpha_{n}| \int_{0}^{t} |v'(s;q)|^{2} ds + |\delta - \delta_{n}| \int_{0}^{t} ||v(s;q)||^{2} ds + \int_{0}^{t} |w'(s)|^{2} ds + \int_{0}^{t} ||w(s)||^{2} ds \Big).$$

$$(7.7)$$

By energy estimate (6.8) and by (7.5)

$$|w'(t)|^{2} + ||w(t)||^{2} \leq C(I) \Big(L \int_{0}^{t} ||(A - A_{n})v(s;q)||_{V'} ds + |\alpha - \alpha_{n}| + |\delta - \delta_{n}| + \int_{0}^{t} |w'(s)|^{2} ds + \int_{0}^{t} ||w(s)||^{2} ds \Big).$$
(7.8)

Now the Gronwall's inequality gives

$$|v'(t;q_n) - v'(t;q)|^2 + ||v(t;q_n) - v(t;q)||^2 \le C(I) \Big(L \int_0^T ||(A - A_n)v(s;q)||_{V'} ds + |\alpha - \alpha_n| + |\delta - \delta_n| \Big), \quad (7.9)$$

for any $t \in [0, T]$.

By the assumption $q_n \to q$ in P, that is $\alpha_n \to \alpha$, $\delta_n \to \delta$ and $\beta_n \to \beta$ in \mathcal{B} as $n \to \infty$. The integral term in the right hand side of (7.9) approaches zero by Lemma 6.4 and the Lebesgue's Dominated Convergence Theorem. Therefore the convergence $u(q_n) \to u(q)$ in C([0,T];V), and $u'(q_n) \to u'(q)$ in C([0,T];H) follows.

Now we prove the general case $f \in L^2(0,T;H)$, $y_0 \in V$, and $y_1 \in H$. Given $0 < \epsilon < 1$, one can find $h \in L^2(0,T;V)$, $z_0 \in D(A)$, and $z_1 \in V$, such that $\|f - h\|_{L^2(0,T;H)} < \epsilon$, $\|y_0 - z_0\| < \epsilon$, and $|y_1 - z_1| < \epsilon$.

Let $u(t;q_n)$ and u(t;q) be solutions for equations with $f \in L^2(0,T;H)$, $y_0 \in V$, and $y_1 \in H$, and $v(t;q_n)$ and v(t;q) be solutions for equations with $h \in L^2(0,T;V)$, $z_0 \in D(A)$, and $z_1 \in V$.

We have

$$|u'(t;q_n) - u'(t;q)| = |u'(t;q_n) - v'(t;q_n) + v'(t;q_n) - v'(t;q) + v'(t;q) - u'(t;q)|$$

$$\leq |u'(t;q_n) - v'(t;q_n)| + |v'(t;q_n) - v'(t;q)| + |v'(t;q) - u'(t;q)|.$$

By estimate (5.5), we conclude that $|u'(t;q_n) - v'(t;q_n)| \le C(I^{|u|}, I^{|v|})\epsilon$, $|v'(t;q) - u'(t;q)| \le C(I^{|u|}, I^{|v|})\epsilon$ for $t \in [0,T]$, where

$$I^{|u|} = |y_1|^2 + ||y_0||^2 + ||y_0||^{\gamma+2} + ||f||^2_{L^2(0,T;H)},$$
$$I^{|v|} = |z_1|^2 + ||z_0||^2 + ||z_0||^{\gamma+2} + ||h||^2_{L^2(0,T;H)}.$$

For $\epsilon < 1$, we can find a constant \hat{c} such that $C(I^{|u|}, I^{|v|}) \leq \hat{c}$, and \hat{c} only depends on f, y_0, y_1 , and the bounds of parameters in P.

Also, we have $|v'(t;q_n) - v'(t;q)| < \epsilon$ for a sufficiently large n, and for any $t \in [0,T]$. Therefore, we have $|u'(t;q_n) - u'(t;q)| \le (2\hat{c}+1)\epsilon$. Since ϵ could be

arbitrary small, we get $|u(t;q_n) - u(t;q)| \to 0$ as $n \to 0$. Similarly, we obtain $||u(t;q_n) - u(t;q)|| \to 0$ as $n \to 0$.

. Г	-	-	_	

Chapter 8

Gâteaux Differentiability of the Solution Map in P

The goals of this chapter are to derive the existence of Gâteaux derivatives and to give a characterization of the weak right Gâteaux derivative of the solution map. To avoid confusion of notation, in this chapter, we use the notation $|.|_H$ for the norm in H, and |.| simply for the absolute value.

Definition 8.1. Let $q^*, q \in P$. The solution map $q \to u(q)$ of P into $L^2(0, T; H)$ is said to be weakly (right) Gâteaux differentiable at q^* in the direction $q - q^*$ if there exists a function $Du(q^*; q - q^*) \in L^2(0, T; H)$ such that

$$\lim_{\lambda \to 0+} \left(\frac{u(q^* + \lambda(q - q^*)) - u(q^*)}{\lambda}, v \right) = (Du(q^*; q - q^*), v)$$
(8.1)

for any $v \in L^2(0,T;H)$.

For convenience the word "right" is omitted in the sequel. Also, since $q^*, q \in P$, the above definition is applied to a possibly restricted set of directions in the convex admissible set P.

Let $q^* = (\alpha^*, \beta^*, \delta^*)$. We will show that the weak Gâteaux derivative of the solution map at q^* in the direction $q - q^*$, $z = Du(q^*; q - q^*)$ exists and satisfies the *linear* equation

$$z''(t) + \alpha^* z'(t) + A_{\beta^*} z(t) + \delta^* h(t) z(t) = \tilde{f}(t), \quad t \in (0, T)$$
(8.2)

with some $h \in L^2(0,T;H)$ and $\tilde{f} \in L^2(0,T;H)$.

Now we proceed with the determination of the weak Gâteaux derivative $z = Du(q^*; q - q^*)$. Fix $q^*, q \in P$. Let $\lambda \in (0, 1]$. For simplicity we write $q_{\lambda} = q^* + \lambda(q - q^*)$.

Let $u(q_{\lambda})$ and $u(q^*)$ be the weak solutions of the equations

$$u''(q_{\lambda}) + \alpha_{\lambda}u'(q_{\lambda}) + A_{\beta_{\lambda}}u(q_{\lambda}) + \delta_{\lambda}g(u(q_{\lambda})) = f \in L^{2}(0,T;V), \quad (8.3)$$
$$u_{\lambda}(0;q_{\lambda}) = y_{0} \in D(A), \quad u'_{\lambda}(0;q_{\lambda}) = y_{1} \in V$$

and

$$u''(q^*) + \alpha^* u'(q^*) + A_{\beta^*} u(q^*) + \delta^* g(u(q^*)) = f \in L^2(0, T; V), \quad (8.4)$$
$$u(0; q^*) = y_0 \in D(A), \quad u'(0; q^*) = y_1 \in V$$

correspondingly.

Lemma 8.2. Let

$$B_{\lambda}(t,x) = B(u(t,x;q_{\lambda}), u(t,x;q^{*})) = \frac{g(u(t,x;q_{\lambda})) - g(u(t,x;q^{*}))}{u(t,x;q_{\lambda}) - u(t,x;q^{*})}.$$

Then we have $|B_{\lambda}(t,x)| \leq c$ on $[0,T] \times \Omega$ for some constant c that does not depend on λ . Also,

$$|B_{\lambda}(t) - g'(u(t;q^*))|_H \to 0,$$
 (8.5)

for any fixed $t \in [0, T]$, as $\lambda \to 0+$.

Proof. For $n \ge 4$, we have $B_{\lambda}(t, x) = 1$. The case is trivial. Now we prove the case of $n \le 3$. By Theorem 6.6, $u(t;q_{\lambda})$, $u(t;q^*) \in D(A)$ for any $t \in [0,T]$. By the Sobolev embeddings Theorem (see [48], II(1.12)), $H^2(\Omega) \subset C(\Omega)$ continuously for $n \leq 3$. Hence,

$$\|u(t;q_{\lambda})\|_{C(\Omega)} \le c \|u(t;q_{\lambda})\|_{H^{2}(\Omega)} \le \hat{c},$$
$$\|u(t;q^{*})\|_{C(\Omega)} \le c \|u(t;q^{*})\|_{H^{2}(\Omega)} \le \hat{c},$$

where \hat{c} depends only on the $||f||_{L^2(0,T;H)}$, $||y_0||$, $|y_1|$, and the bounds of three parameters by inequalities (3.3), (5.13) and (6.8).

Therefore,

$$|u(t, x; q_{\lambda})|, \quad |u(t, x; q^*)| \le \hat{c},$$
(8.6)

on $[0,T] \times \Omega$. Hence,

$$|B_{\lambda}(t,x)| = |B(u(t,x;q_{\lambda}), u(t,x;q^{*}))| = |g'(\theta u(t,x;q_{\lambda}) + (1-\theta)u(t,x;q^{*}))|$$

= $(\gamma + 1)|\theta u(t,x;q_{\lambda}) + (1-\theta)u(t,x;q^{*})|^{\gamma}$
 $\leq (\gamma + 1)(|u(t,x;q_{\lambda})| + |u(t,x;q^{*})|)^{\gamma} \leq (\gamma + 1)(2\hat{c})^{\gamma} = c,$

on $[0,T] \times \Omega$, and c does not depend on λ .

For any fixed $(t, x) \in [0, T] \times \Omega$, we have

$$|B_{\lambda}(t,x) - g'(u(t,x;q^{*}))| \le |g''(\tau)||u(t,x;q_{\lambda}) - u(t,x;q^{*})|$$

= $(\gamma + 1)\gamma |\tau|^{\gamma - 1} |u(t,x;q_{\lambda}) - u(t,x;q^{*})| \le c |u(t,x;q_{\lambda}) - u(t,x;q^{*})|,$

where τ is between $u(t, x; q_{\lambda})$ and $u(t, x; q^*)$. Notice that c does not depend on t and x.

Therefore, we have

$$|B_{\lambda}(t) - g'(u(t;q^*))|_H \le c|u(t;q_{\lambda}) - u(t;q^*)|_H \to 0,$$

as $\lambda \to 0+$, since the solution map $q \to u(q) : P \to C(0,T;V)$ is continuous by Theorem 7.1.

Theorem 8.3. Let $q = (\alpha, \beta, \delta), q^* = (\alpha^*, \beta^*, \delta^*) \in P$. Let function $u(q^*)$ be the weak solution of the equation

$$u''(q^*) + \alpha^* u'(q^*) + A_{\beta^*} u(q^*) + \delta^* g(u(q^*)) = f \in L^2(0,T;V),$$

$$u(0;q^*) = y_0 \in D(A), \quad u'(0;q^*) = y_1 \in V.$$

Then the weak Gâteaux derivative $z = Du(q^*; q - q^*) \in L^2(0, T; H)$ at $q^* \in P$ in the direction $q - q^*$ exists and is the unique weak solution of the problem

$$z''(t) + \alpha^* z'(t) + A_{\beta^*} z(t) + \delta^* g'(u(t;q^*)) z(t) = f_0(t), \ t \in (0,T)$$
(8.7)
$$z(0) = 0, \ z'(0) = 0,$$

where
$$f_0(t) = (\alpha^* - \alpha)u'(t; q^*) + (A_{\beta^*} - A_{\beta})u(t; q^*) + (\delta^* - \delta)g(u(t; q^*)).$$

Proof. First, we prove the case of $n \leq 3$. Case $n \geq 4$ is proved in Lemma 8.4.

Let $q_{\lambda} = q^* + \lambda(q - q^*) = (\alpha_{\lambda}, \beta_{\lambda}, \delta_{\lambda})$. Functions $u(q_{\lambda})$ and $u(q^*)$ are the weak solutions of the equations

$$u''(q_{\lambda}) + \alpha_{\lambda}u'(q_{\lambda}) + A_{\beta_{\lambda}}u(q_{\lambda}) + \delta_{\lambda}g(u(q_{\lambda})) = f \in L^{2}(0,T;V), \quad (8.8)$$
$$u_{\lambda}(0;q_{\lambda}) = y_{0} \in D(A), \quad u'_{\lambda}(0;q_{\lambda}) = y_{1} \in V$$

and

$$u''(q^*) + \alpha^* u'(q^*) + A_{\beta^*} u(q^*) + \delta^* g(u(q^*)) = f \in L^2(0, T; V), \quad (8.9)$$
$$u(0; q^*) = y_0 \in D(A), \quad u'(0; q^*) = y_1 \in V$$

correspondingly.

Then, in the distribution sense, the quotient $z_{\lambda} = (u(q_{\lambda}) - u(q^*))/\lambda$ satisfies

$$z_{\lambda}'' + \alpha^* z_{\lambda}' + A_{\beta^*} z_{\lambda} + \delta^* \frac{g(u(q_{\lambda})) - g(u(q^*))}{\lambda}$$

= $(\alpha^* - \alpha)u'(q_{\lambda}) + (A_{\beta^*} - A_{\beta})u(q_{\lambda}) + (\delta^* - \delta)g(u(q_{\lambda})),$
 $z_{\lambda}(0) = 0, \quad z_{\lambda}'(0) = 0.$

Let

$$f_{\lambda}(t) = (\alpha^* - \alpha)u'(t; q_{\lambda}) + (A_{\beta^*} - A_{\beta})u(t; q_{\lambda}) + (\delta^* - \delta)g(u(t; q_{\lambda})).$$

Let $B_{\lambda}(t) = B(u(t;q_{\lambda}), u(t;q^*))$ be defined as in Lemma 8.2.

Then

$$z_{\lambda}'' + \alpha^* z_{\lambda}' + A_{\beta^*} z_{\lambda} + \delta^* B_{\lambda} z_{\lambda} = f_{\lambda}, \qquad (8.10)$$
$$z_{\lambda}(0) = 0, \quad z_{\lambda}'(0) = 0.$$

By Lemma 4.1 we have

$$|g(u(t;q_{\lambda}))|_{H} = ||u(t;q_{\lambda})||_{L^{2\gamma+2}}^{\gamma+1} \leq C ||u(t;q_{\lambda})||^{\gamma+1}.$$

Therefore one can estimate

$$|f_{\lambda}(t)|_{H} \leq |\alpha^{*} - \alpha||u'(t;q_{\lambda})| + 2\mu K_{1}||u(t;q_{\lambda})|| + CK_{1}^{\gamma+1}|\delta^{*} - \delta|||u(t;q_{\lambda})||^{\gamma+1}).$$

Now the energy estimate (5.13) shows that there exists $c \ge 0$ independent of $q \in P$ such that

$$\|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;H)} \le c \tag{8.11}$$

for all $\lambda \in (0, 1]$.

Since $u(t;q_{\lambda}), u(t;q^*) \in W(0,T), z_{\lambda} \in W(0,T)$. Then

$$z_{\lambda}'' + A_{\beta^*} z_{\lambda} = f_{\lambda} - \alpha^* z_{\lambda}' - \delta^* B_{\lambda} z_{\lambda} \in L^2(0, T; H)$$

Multiply both sides by z'_{λ} to get

$$(z_{\lambda}'' + A_{\beta^*} z_{\lambda}, z_{\lambda}') = (f_{\lambda}, z_{\lambda}') - \alpha^*(z_{\lambda}', z_{\lambda}') - \delta^*(B_{\lambda} z_{\lambda}, z_{\lambda}').$$

By Lemma 3.3, we have

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\{|z_{\lambda}'|_{H}^{2}+\|z_{\lambda}\|_{\beta}^{2}\}=(f_{\lambda},z_{\lambda}')-\alpha^{*}(z_{\lambda}',z_{\lambda}')-\delta^{*}(B_{\lambda}z_{\lambda},z_{\lambda}')$$

Integrating both sides from 0 to t we get

$$\begin{aligned} |z_{\lambda}'(t)|_{H}^{2} + ||z_{\lambda}(t)|_{\beta}^{2} \\ &= 2 \int_{0}^{t} (f_{\lambda}(s), z_{\lambda}'(s)) ds - 2\alpha^{*} \int_{0}^{t} (z_{\lambda}'(s), z_{\lambda}'(s)) ds - 2\delta^{*} \int_{0}^{t} (B_{\lambda}(s) z_{\lambda}(s), z_{\lambda}'(s)) ds. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} |z_{\lambda}'(t)|_{H}^{2} + ||z_{\lambda}(t)|_{\beta}^{2} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{t} |f_{\lambda}(s)|_{H}^{2} ds + \int_{0}^{t} |z_{\lambda}'(s)|_{H}^{2} ds + 2\alpha^{*} \int_{0}^{t} |z_{\lambda}'(s)|_{H}^{2} ds \\ &+ 2c\delta^{*} (\int_{0}^{t} |z_{\lambda}(s)|_{H}^{2} ds + \int_{0}^{t} |z_{\lambda}'(s)|_{H}^{2} ds) \\ &\leq ||f_{\lambda}||_{L^{2}(0,T;H)} + c (\int_{0}^{t} |z_{\lambda}'(s)|_{H}^{2} ds + \int_{0}^{t} ||z_{\lambda}(s)||^{2} ds). \end{aligned}$$

Then,

$$|z_{\lambda}'(t)|_{H}^{2} + ||z_{\lambda}(t)||^{2} \le c||f_{\lambda}||_{L^{2}(0,T;H)} + c(\int_{0}^{t} |z_{\lambda}'(s)|_{H}^{2}ds + \int_{0}^{t} ||z_{\lambda}(s)||^{2}ds).$$

Therefore, Gronwall's inequality implies

$$|z_{\lambda}'(t)|_{H}^{2} + ||z_{\lambda}(t)||^{2} \le c ||f_{\lambda}||_{L^{2}(0,T;H)},$$

where c does not depend on λ and t.

Hence, by (8.11), we get

$$\max_{0 \le t \le T} \left(|z_{\lambda}'(t)|_{H}^{2} + ||z_{\lambda}(t)||^{2} \right) \le c,$$
(8.12)

where c does not depend on λ .

Let $v \in V$ with $||v|| \le 1$. Then

$$\langle z_{\lambda}'', v \rangle = -\alpha^*(z_{\lambda}', v) - \langle A_{\beta^*} z_{\lambda}, v \rangle - \delta^*(B_{\lambda} z_{\lambda}, v) + (f_{\lambda}, v).$$

Using $|v| \leq K_1 ||v|| = K_1$ we get

$$|\langle z_{\lambda}''(t), v \rangle| \le K_1 |\alpha^*| |z_{\lambda}'(t)|_H + \mu ||z_{\lambda}(t)|| + cK_1 \delta^* ||z_{\lambda}(t)|| + K_1 |f_{\lambda}(t)|_H.$$

Therefore,

$$||z_{\lambda}''(t)||_{V'} \le K_1 |\alpha^*| |z_{\lambda}'(t)|_H + \mu ||z_{\lambda}(t)|| + cK_1 \delta^* ||z_{\lambda}(t)|| + K_1 |f_{\lambda}(t)|_H.$$

By (8.11) and (8.12), we get

$$\|z_{\lambda}''\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V')} \le c, \tag{8.13}$$

where c does not depend on λ .

Function $z_{\lambda} \in W(0,T)$ and it is bounded in W(0,T) by (8.12) and (8). Therefore one can extract a subsequence z_{λ_k} , $\lambda_k \to 0+$, and find $z \in W(0,T)$ such that $z_{\lambda_k} \rightharpoonup z$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;V)$, $z'_{\lambda_k} \rightharpoonup z'$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;H)$, and $z''_{\lambda_k} \rightharpoonup z''$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;V')$.

Now let us prove that $B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} \rightharpoonup g'(u(q^*)) z$ weakly in V' as $\lambda_k \rightarrow 0+$.

Let $B_0 = g'(u(q^*))$. Then, by Lemma 8.2 and inequality (8.6), we have $\|B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z\|_{V'} \leq c$, where c does not depend on λ_k .

Suppose that D is a dense subset of V, then for any $v \in V$, and any given

 $\epsilon > 0$, one can find a $v_0 \in D$ such that $||v - v_0|| \le \epsilon$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z, v \rangle| &= |\langle B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z, v - v_0 + v_0 \rangle| \\ &\leq |\langle B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z, v - v_0 \rangle| + |\langle B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z, v_0 \rangle| \\ &\leq \|B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z\|_{V'} \|v - v_0\|_V + |\langle B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z, v_0 \rangle| \\ &\leq c\epsilon + |\langle B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z, v_0 \rangle|. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, to prove the weak convergence, it is enough to show that $|\langle B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z, v_0 \rangle| \to 0$ for any $v_0 \in D$.

Since $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ is dense in V, for any $v_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z, v_0 \rangle| &= |\langle B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z_{\lambda_k} + B_0 z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z, v_0 \rangle \\ &\leq |\langle (B_{\lambda_k} - B_0) z_{\lambda_k}, v_0 \rangle| + |\langle B_0 (z_{\lambda_k} - z), v_0 \rangle| \\ &\leq \int_{\Omega} |B_{\lambda_k} - B_0| |z_{\lambda_k}| |v_0| dx + \int_{\Omega} |B_0| |z_{\lambda_k} - z| |v_0| dx \\ &\leq |v_0|_{\infty} \int_{\Omega} |B_{\lambda_k} - B_0| |z_{\lambda_k}| dx + |v_0|_{\infty} \int_{\Omega} |B_0| |z_{\lambda_k} - z| dx \\ &\leq |v_0|_{\infty} |B_{\lambda_k} - B_0|_H |z_{\lambda_k}|_H + |v_0|_{\infty} |B_0|_H |z_{\lambda_k} - z|_H \end{aligned}$$

By Lemma 8.2, we have $|B_{\lambda_k} - B_0|_H \to 0$ for any fixed $t \in [0, T]$ as $\lambda_k \to 0+$. Also $|z_{\lambda_k} - z|_H \to 0$ for any fixed $t \in [0, T]$ as $\lambda_k \to 0+$. Hence, we have $\langle B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k} - B_0 z, v_0 \rangle \to 0$ for any fixed $t \in [0, T]$ as $\lambda_k \to 0+$.

Now we have $z_{\lambda_k} \rightharpoonup z$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;V)$, $z'_{\lambda_k} \rightharpoonup z'$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;H)$, $z''_{\lambda_k} \rightharpoonup z''$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;V')$, and $B_{\lambda_k}z_{\lambda_k} \rightharpoonup g'(u(q^*))z$ weakly in V' as $\lambda_k \rightarrow 0+$. Therefore, for any $h \in L^2(0,T;V)$, we have

$$\langle z_{\lambda_k}'',h\rangle + \alpha^* \langle z_{\lambda_k}',h\rangle + \langle A_{\beta^*} z_{\lambda_k},h\rangle + \delta^* \langle B_{\lambda_k} z_{\lambda_k},h\rangle$$
$$\longrightarrow \quad \langle z'',h\rangle + \alpha^* \langle z,h\rangle + \langle A_{\beta^*} z,h\rangle + \delta^* \langle g'(u(q^*)z,h\rangle,$$

as $\lambda_k \to 0+$.

Let

$$f_0(t) = (\alpha^* - \alpha)u'(t; q^*) + (A_{\beta^*} - A_{\beta})u(t; q^*) + (\delta^* - \delta)g(u(t; q^*)).$$
(8.14)

From Theorem 7.1 we get $u(q_{\lambda}) \to u(q^*)$ in $L^2(0,T;V)$, and $u'(q_{\lambda}) \to u'(q^*)$ in $L^2(0,T;V)$, and $g(u(t;q_{\lambda})) \to g(u(t;q^*))$ in $L^2(0,T;H)$, as $\lambda \to 0+$. And $(A_{\beta^*} - A_{\beta})u(t;q_{\lambda}) \rightharpoonup (A_{\beta^*} - A_{\beta})u(t;q^*)$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;V')$ by Lemma 6.5. Therefore $f_{\lambda} \rightharpoonup f_0$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;H)$.

Now we can pass to the limit as $\lambda_k \to 0+$ in (8.10) and conclude that

$$z'' + \alpha^* z' + A_{\beta^*} z + \delta^* g'(u(t;q^*)) z = f_0,$$

$$z(0) = 0, \quad z'(0) = 0.$$

Since $f_0 \in L^2(0,T;H)$, we can prove that the solution z is unique in W(0,T)by following the same approach as in Chapter 5. Hence the entire sequence z_{λ} is convergent to z as $\lambda \to 0+$. This proves that z is the weak Gâteaux derivative $Du(q^*;q-q^*)$ of the map $q \to u(q)$ as claimed in the Theorem. \Box

Lemma 8.4. Let $n \ge 4$, $q = (\alpha, \beta, \delta)$, $q^* = (\alpha^*, \beta^*, \delta^*) \in P$. Let function $u(q^*)$

be the weak solution of the equation

$$u''(q^*) + \alpha^* u'(q^*) + A_{\beta^*} u(q^*) + \delta^* u(q^*) = f \in L^2(0, T; V),$$

$$u(0; q^*) = y_0 \in D(A), \quad u'(0; q^*) = y_1 \in V.$$

Then the weak Gâteaux derivative $z = Du(q^*; q - q^*) \in L^2(0, T; H)$ at $q^* \in P$ in the direction $q - q^*$ exists and is the unique weak solution of the problem

$$z''(t) + \alpha^* z'(t) + A_{\beta^*} z(t) + \delta^* z(t) = f_0(t), \ t \in (0,T)$$
$$z(0) = 0, \ z'(0) = 0,$$

where
$$f_0(t) = (\alpha^* - \alpha)u'(t; q^*) + (A_{\beta^*} - A_{\beta})u(t; q^*) + (\delta^* - \delta)u(t; q^*).$$

Proof. The proof of this lemma follows as the proof of Theorem 8.3 with g(u) = uand $B_{\lambda} = 1$. In this case, we have

$$z_{\lambda}'' + \alpha^* z_{\lambda}' + A_{\beta^*} z_{\lambda} + \delta^* z_{\lambda} = f_{\lambda}, \qquad (8.15)$$
$$z_{\lambda}(0) = 0, \quad z_{\lambda}'(0) = 0,$$

where $f_{\lambda}(t) = (\alpha^* - \alpha)u'(t; q_{\lambda}) + (A_{\beta^*} - A_{\beta})u(t; q_{\lambda}) + (\delta^* - \delta)u(t; q_{\lambda}).$

Similar to the proof of Theorem 8.3, we can show that

$$\|f_{\lambda}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;H)} \leq c,$$
$$\max_{0 \leq t \leq T} \left(|z_{\lambda}'(t)|_{H}^{2} + \|z_{\lambda}(t)\|^{2} \right) \leq c,$$
$$\|z_{\lambda}''\|_{L^{2}(0,T;V')} \leq c,$$

for all $\lambda \in (0, 1]$.

Similarly, one can extract a subsequence $z_{\lambda_k} \in W(0,T)$ such that as $\lambda_k \to 0+$ we get

$$z'' + \alpha^* z' + A_{\beta^*} z + \delta^* (u(t; q^*) z = f_0,$$

$$z(0) = 0, \quad z'(0) = 0.$$

where $f_0(t) = (\alpha^* - \alpha)u'(t; q^*) + (A_{\beta^*} - A_{\beta})u(t; q^*) + (\delta^* - \delta)u(t; q^*),$ and $z \in W(0, T).$

Since $f_0 \in L^2(0,T;H)$, we can prove that the solution z is unique in W(0,T)by following the same approach as in Chapter 5. Hence z_{λ} is convergent to z as $\lambda \to 0+$. This proves that z is the weak Gâteaux derivative $Du(q^*;q-q^*)$ of the map $q \to u(q)$ as claimed in the Theorem. \Box

Chapter 9

Gâteaux and Fréchet Differentiability of the Objective Function

We can show that the objective function $J(q) = ||u(q) - z_d||^2_{L^2(0,T;H)}$ has practically the same differentiability properties as the ones established in [21] in the case of the sine-Gordon equation. Here we follow the results from [21].

The objective function J(q) is Gâteaux differentiable. Indeed, by Theorem 8.3 the map $q \to u(q)$ is weakly Gâteaux differentiable at any $q^* \in P$ in any direction of $q - q^*$ for $q \in P$, and its weak Gâteaux derivative $z(t, x) = Du(q^*; q - q^*)(t, x)$ can be described by the weak solution of equation (8.7). From the definition of the functional $J(q) = ||u(q) - z_d||^2_{L^2(0,T;H)}$ we get

$$DJ(q^*; q - q^*) = 2(u(q^*) - z_d, Du(q^*; q - q^*))$$

$$= 2 \int_Q [u(q^*; t, x) - z_d(t, x)] z(t, x) dx dt.$$
(9.1)

Let the adjoint state $p(q^*)$ is defined as the weak solution of the linear terminal value problem

$$p'' - \alpha^* p' + A_{\beta^*} p + \delta^* g'(u(q^*)p = u(q^*) - z_d,$$

$$p(T) = 0, \ p'(T) = 0.$$

Since $u(q^*) - z_d \in L^2(0,T;H)$, one can show that the solution $p(q^*)$ exists and is

unique in W(0,T) by following the similar approach as in Chapter 5.

Therefore, expression (9.1) becomes

$$\begin{split} DJ(q^*;q-q^*) &= 2\int_0^T (z(t),p''-\alpha^*p'+A_{\beta^*}p+\delta^*g'(u(q^*)p))dt \\ &= 2\int_0^T (z''(t)+\alpha^*z'(t)A_{\beta^*}z+\delta^*g'(u(q^*))z,p(t;q^*))dt \\ &= 2(\alpha^*-\alpha)\int_0^T (u'(t;q^*),p(t;q^*))\,dt + 2\int_0^T (A_{\beta^*}-A_{\beta})u(t;q^*),p(t;q^*))\,dt \\ &+ 2(\delta^*-\delta)\int_0^T (g(u(t;q^*)),p(t;q^*))\,dt. \end{split}$$

Thus we obtain the following result

Theorem 9.1. Let $q, q^* \in P$. Then the Gâteaux derivative $DJ(q^*; q - q^*)$ of the objective function J(q) at q^* in the direction $q-q^*$ has the following representation

$$DJ(q^*; q - q^*) = (\alpha^* - \alpha)a(q^*) + \int_{\Omega} (\beta^*(x) - \beta(x))G(x; q^*)dx + (\delta^* - \delta)c(q^*), \quad (9.2)$$

where

$$a(q^*) = 2 \int_Q u_t(t, x; q^*) p(t, x; q^*) \, dx dt.$$
(9.3)

$$c(q^*) = 2 \int_Q g(u(t, x; q^*)) p(t, x; q^*) \, dx dt.$$
(9.4)

and

$$G(x;q^*) = 2\int_0^T \nabla u(t,x;q^*) \nabla p(t,x;q^*) dt, \quad x \in \Omega.$$
(9.5)

Note that $G \in L^1(\Omega)$.

Our main goal is to prove that the objective function J(q) is Fréchet differentiable. For this purpose we will consider the interior *int* P of the admissible set P defined in (1.4) as an open subset of the Banach space $X = \mathbb{R} \times L^{\infty}(\Omega) \times \mathbb{R}$. The norm of $(\alpha, \beta, \delta) \in X$ is defined by

$$\|(\alpha,\beta,\delta)\|_X = \max\{|\alpha|, \|\beta\|_{C(\Omega)}, |\delta|\}.$$

Definition 9.2. Function J(q) is called Fréchet differentiable at $q^* \in int P$, if there exists a bounded linear functional $DJ(q^*) : X \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\lim_{q \to q^*} \frac{|J(q) - J(q^*) - DJ(q^*)(q - q^*)|}{\|q - q^*\|_X} = 0, \quad q \in int \, P.$$
(9.6)

Theorem 9.3. Objective function J(q) is Fréchet differentiable at any $q^* \in int P$. Let $a(q^*), c(q^*)$ and $G(q^*)$ be defined by (9.3), (9.4) and (9.5). Then the Fréchet derivative $DJ(q^*) \in X'$ is the bounded linear functional defined on $q - q^* \in X$ by

$$DJ(q^*)(q-q^*) = (\alpha^* - \alpha)a(q^*) + \int_{\Omega} (\beta^*(x) - \beta(x))G(x;q^*)dx + (\delta^* - \delta)c(q^*), \quad (9.7)$$

where $q = (\alpha, \beta, \delta) \in int P$.

Proof. We follow the Calculus argument that for a function of several variables the continuity of its partial derivatives implies the differentiability.

Fix $q, q^* \in int P$. Then $u(q^*), p(q^*) \in L^2(0, T; V)$ by the results of Chapter 5. Therefore $DJ(q^*)$ defined in (9.7) is a bounded linear functional on X.

Define the real valued function

$$F(t) = J(q^* + t(q - q^*)), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then F is defined on an open interval containing [0, 1]. It is continuous on it by Theorem 7.1. Moreover $F'(0+) = DJ(q^*; q - q^*)$ and $F'(0-) = -DJ(q^*; -(q - q^*))$. According to (9.2), F'(0+) = F'(0-). Therefore F is differentiable at t = 0. Clearly, the same argument can be applied at any $t \in [0, 1]$. The conclusion is that one can apply the Mean-Value Theorem to F on [0, 1].

Define the mappings $q \to a(q)$, $q \to c(q)$ and $q \to G(q)$ from P into \mathbb{R} , \mathbb{R} , and $L^1(\Omega)$, by (9.3), (9.4) and (9.5), respectively with $q^* \in P$ being replaced by $q = (\alpha, \beta, \delta) \in P$. These mappings are continuous by Theorem 7.1. Since $q^* \in int P$, for a given $\epsilon > 0$ there exists a convex neighborhood $U \subset int P$ of q^* such that

$$|a(p) - a(q^*)| < \epsilon, \quad |c(p) - c(q^*)| < \epsilon, \quad ||G(p) - G(q^*)||_{L^1(\Omega)} < \epsilon \quad \text{for } p \in U.$$

By the Mean-Value Theorem there exists $\tau \in (0,1)$ such that $J(q) - J(q^*) = DJ(q_{\tau}; q - q^*)$, where $q_{\tau} = q^* + \tau(q - q^*)$. If $q \in U$, then $q_{\tau} \in U$ by the convexity of U. Thus

$$\begin{aligned} |J(q) - J(q^*) - DJ(q^*)(q - q^*)| &= |DJ(q_\tau; q - q^*) - DJ(q^*)(q - q^*)| \\ &\le \left(|a(q_\tau) - a(q^*)| + \int_{\Omega} |G(q_\tau) - G(q^*)|(x) \ dx + |c(q_\tau) - c(q^*)| \right) \|q - q^*\|_X \\ &< 3\epsilon \|q - q^*\|_X \end{aligned}$$

for $q \in U$, and the result follows.

A corollary of Theorem 9.3 is

Theorem 9.4. Consider Klein-Gordon equation (1.1) with constant diffusion coefficients β . Let the admissible set be

$$P = [\alpha_{min}, \alpha_{max}] \times [\beta_{min}, \beta_{max}] \times [\delta_{min}, \delta_{max}]$$

with $\beta_{min} > 0$.

Let the objective function be defined by $J(q) = ||y(q) - z_d||_{L^2(0,T;H)}$. Then the mapping $q \to J(q)$ from int $P \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ into \mathbb{R} is differentiable. Its gradient $\nabla J(q) = (a(q), b(q), c(q))$, where $b(q) = \int_{\Omega} G(x;q) dx$, and a(q), G(x;q), c(q) are defined in (9.3), (9.5), and (9.4).

Now assume that $q^* \in P$ is an optimal parameter for (1.5), that is

$$J(q^*) = \inf_{q \in P} J(q).$$
(9.8)

The necessary optimality condition for q^* is $DJ(q^*; q - q^*) \ge 0$ for any $q \in P$. According to Theorem 9.1 it takes the form

$$(\alpha^* - \alpha)a(q^*) + \int_{\Omega} (\beta^*(x) - \beta(x))G(x;q^*)dx + (\delta^* - \delta)c(q^*) \ge 0$$
(9.9)

for any $q = (\alpha, \beta, \delta) \in P$.

Let us analyze condition (9.9) for the optimal parameter $q^* \in P$, where

$$P = \{q = (\alpha, \beta, \delta) \in [\alpha_{\min}, \alpha_{\max}] \times \mathcal{B} \times [\delta_{\min}, \delta_{\max}]\}$$
(9.10)

and

$$\mathcal{B} = \{ \beta \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) : 0 < \nu \le \beta(x) \le \mu \text{ a.e. on } \Omega \}$$
(9.11)

for some positive constants ν and μ .

Choose $q = (\alpha, \beta^*, \delta^*) \in P$. Then (9.9) becomes $(\alpha^* - \alpha)a(q^*) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in [\alpha_{\min}, \alpha_{\max}]$. If $\alpha^* \in (\alpha_{\min}, \alpha_{\max})$ then we must have $a(q^*) = 0$. If $a(q^*) > 0$ then $\alpha^* = \alpha_{\max}$. If $a(q^*) < 0$ then $\alpha^* = \alpha_{\min}$. The case $a(q^*) \ne 0$ can be

compactly written as

$$\alpha^* = \frac{1}{2} \{ \operatorname{sign}(a(q^*)) + 1 \} \alpha_{max} - \frac{1}{2} \{ \operatorname{sign}(a(q^*)) - 1 \} \alpha_{min}.$$
(9.12)

Similarly to the previous case, if $\delta^* \in (\delta_{\min}, \delta_{\max})$ then we must have $c(q^*) = 0$. If $c(q^*) > 0$ then $\delta^* = \delta_{\max}$. If $c(q^*) < 0$ then $\delta^* = \delta_{\min}$. The case $c(q^*) \neq 0$ can be compactly written as

$$\delta^* = \frac{1}{2} \{ \operatorname{sign}(c(q^*)) + 1 \} \delta_{max} - \frac{1}{2} \{ \operatorname{sign}(c(q^*)) - 1 \} \delta_{min}.$$
(9.13)

Next we consider the implications for $\beta^* \in \mathcal{B}$.

Suppose that $\beta^* \in int \mathcal{B}$, i.e. $\nu < \operatorname{ess\,inf} \beta^*(x) \leq \operatorname{ess\,sup} \beta^*(x) < \mu$. Then for a sufficiently small r > 0 we have $\beta^* + \gamma \in \mathcal{B}$ for any $\gamma \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ with $\|\gamma\|_{\infty} \leq r$. Choose $q = (\alpha^*, \beta^*(x) - \gamma(x), \delta^*)$. Then (9.9) becomes

$$\int_{\Omega} \gamma(x) G(x; q^*) dx \ge 0.$$

Choosing $q = (\alpha^*, \beta^*(x) + \gamma(x), \delta^*)$ gives

$$\int_{\Omega} \gamma(x) G(x; q^*) dx \le 0.$$

Thus

$$\int_{\Omega} \gamma(x) G(x; q^*) dx = 0.$$
(9.14)

for any $\gamma \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$. We conclude that $\beta^* \in int \mathcal{B}$ implies $G(x; q^*) = 0$ a.e. in Ω . Let

$$\Omega_{+} = \{ x \in \Omega : G(x; q^*) > 0 \}$$

defined up to a set of measure zero. Then we must have $\beta(x) = \mu$ for a.e. $x \in \Omega_+$.

Let

$$\Omega_{-} = \{ x \in \Omega : G(x; q^*) < 0 \}$$

defined up to a set of measure zero. Then we must have $\beta(x) = \nu$ for a.e. $x \in \Omega_-$. This analysis shows that the optimal coefficient q^* satisfies a bang bang control law. Its other consequence is summarized in the following Theorem.

Theorem 9.5. If the optimal coefficient q^* is located in the interior int P of the admissible set P, then

$$a(q^*) = 0$$
, $c(q^*) = 0$, and $G(x; q^*) = 0$ a.e. in Ω .

In the case of constant diffusion coefficients β in (1.1) the gradient $\nabla J(q) = (a(q), b(q), c(q))$ of the objective function was obtained in Theorem 9.3. Combining this result with Theorem 9.5 gives

Theorem 9.6. Consider the Klein-Gordon equation (1.1) with constant diffusion coefficients β . Let the admissible set be

$$P = [\alpha_{min}, \alpha_{max}] \times [\beta_{min}, \beta_{max}] \times [\delta_{min}, \delta_{max}]$$

with $\beta_{\min} > 0$. Let the objective function be defined by $J(q) = ||y(q) - z_d||_{L^2(0,T;H)}$. If the parameter $q^* \in int P$ is optimal, then $\nabla J(q^*) = 0$.

Chapter 10

Conclusions and Future Work

Because of its significance in physics, Klein-Gordon equation has been studied extensively from different perspectives. In the thesis, we study the optimization problem of a nonlinear damped Klein-Gordon equation with a variable diffusion coefficient. Our work is mainly based on the work of J.L. Lions (see [34], [35]), Roger Temam (see [48]), Semion Gutman (see [24],[21]), and Junhong Ha and Shin-ichi Nakagiri (see [26], [41]. We follow as in Gutman [24],[21] for sine-Gordon equation. Further difficulties in mathematical analysis arise from the unbounded nonlinear term $g(u) = |u|^{\gamma}u$, and the variable diffusion coefficient $\beta(x)$.

The summary of the research is as follows.

We studied the weak solution of the damped Klein-Gordon equation

$$u'' + \alpha u' + A_{\beta}u + \delta g(u) = f$$
, in V' a.e. on $[0, T]$,
 $u(0) = y_0 \in V$, $u'(0) = y_1 \in H$,

where the nonlinear term is $g(u) = |u|^{\gamma} u$ with the constant γ satisfying

$$\begin{cases} 0 \le \gamma < \infty & \text{if} \quad n = 1, 2, \\ 0 \le \gamma \le 2 & \text{if} \quad n = 3, \\ \gamma = 0 & \text{if} \quad n \ge 4. \end{cases}$$

We carefully studied the nonlinear term g(u) for the different cases of γ , and derived its desirable properties, which are crucial to the entire work, as following:

(i) If n = 1, 2, 3 and $u \in V$, the we have the Sobolev inequality

$$\|u\|_{L^q(\Omega)} \le C \|u\|,$$

where $1 \le q \le 2\gamma + 2$.

(ii) If $u \in V$, then $|g(u)| \leq C ||u||^{\gamma+1}$ and $g: V \to H$ is locally Lipschitz with

$$|g(u) - g(v)| \le C(1 + ||u|| + ||v||)^{\gamma+1} ||u - v||,$$

where $u, v \in V$.

(iii) If $\beta(x) \in \mathcal{B}$ and $u \in D(A)$, then $||g(u)|| \leq C ||u||_{H^2(\Omega)}^{\gamma} ||u||$, where C depends only on Ω .

(iv) If $u_n \to u$ in $L^2(0,T;H)$ and $||u_n(t)||, ||u(t)|| \leq C$ for some constant Cand any $t \in [0,T]$, then $g(u_n) \rightharpoonup g(u)$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;H)$.

We proved existence and uniqueness of the weak solution of the Klein-Gordon equation by using energy estimates and standard Galerkin method. We obtained that, for $q \in P$, $y_0 \in V$, $y_1 \in H$, $f \in L^2(0,T;H)$, the unique solution u(t) = u(t;q) satisfies $u \in C([0,T];V) \cap W(0,T)$, $u' \in C([0,T];H)$, and

$$\max_{0 \le t \le T} \left(\|u(t)\|^2 + |u'(t)|^2 \right) + \|u''(t)\|_{L^2(0,T;V')}^2 \le c(I + I^{\gamma+1}).$$

where c is only depends on the bounds of the admissible set P, and

$$I = |y_1|^2 + ||y_0||^2 + ||y_0||^{\gamma+2} + ||f||^2_{L^2(0,T;H)}.$$

We showed that the solution maps $q \to u(q)$: $P \to C([0, T]; V)$ and $q \to u'(q)$: $P \to C([0, T]; H)$ are continuous. We established the weak Gâteaux differentiability of the solution map and showed that the weak Gâteaux derivative $z = Du(q^*; q - q^*) \in L^2(0, T; H)$ at $q^* \in P$ in the direction $q - q^*$ is the unique weak solution of the problem

$$z''(t) + \alpha^* z'(t) + A_{\beta^*} z(t) + \delta^* g'(u(t;q^*)) z(t) = f_0(t) \ t \in (0,T)$$
$$z(0) = 0, \ z'(0) = 0,$$

where $f_0(t) = (\alpha^* - \alpha)u'(t;q^*) + (A_{\beta^*} - A_{\beta})u(t;q^*) + (\delta^* - \delta)g(u(t;q^*)).$

Then the Gâteaux differentiability of the objective function $J(q) = ||u(q) - z_d||^2_{L^2(0,T;H)}$ is followed directly, and the Gâteaux derivative $DJ(q^*; q - q^*)$ of J(q) at q^* in the direction $q - q^*$ has the following representation

$$DJ(q^*; q - q^*) = (\alpha^* - \alpha)a(q^*) + \int_{\Omega} (\beta^*(x) - \beta(x))G(x; q^*)dx + (\delta^* - \delta)c(q^*),$$

where

$$a(q^*) = 2 \int_Q u_t(t, x; q^*) p(t, x; q^*) \, dx dt.$$
$$c(q^*) = 2 \int_Q g(u(t, x; q^*)) p(t, x; q^*) \, dx dt$$

and

$$G(x;q^*) = 2\int_0^T \nabla u(t,x;q^*)\nabla p(t,x;q^*)dt, \quad x \in \Omega.$$

Finally, we showed that the objective function J(q) is Fréchet differentiable on P, which allow us conclude that if the optimal coefficient q^* is located in the interior *int* P of the admissible set P, then necessary conditions for the optimal set of parameters $q^* = (\alpha, \beta, \gamma) \in P$ minimizing the objective function J(q) are

$$a(q^*) = 0$$
, $c(q^*) = 0$, and $G(x; q^*) = 0$ a.e. in Ω .

I plan to continue my research on nonlinear wave equations such as sine-Gordon equation and Klein-Gordon equation. These equations are examples of infinite dimensional dynamical systems. The goal is to investigate their solutions (trajectories). It is known that such trajectories can exhibit chaotic behaviors. A chaotic behavior of a dissipative dynamical system can be explained by the existence of a complicated attractor \mathcal{A} to which the trajectories converge as $t \to \infty$. The plan is to study theoretical properties and computational methods for the solutions of these nonlinear equations.

Bibliography

- N. U. Ahmed. Necessary conditions of optimality for a class of second-order hyperbolic systems with spatially dependent controls in the coefficients. J. Optim. Theory Appl., 38(3):423–446, 1982.
- [2] N. U. Ahmed. Optimization and identification of systems governed by evolution equations on Banach space, volume 184 of Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series. Longman Scientific & Technical, Harlow, 1988.
- [3] D. D. Baĭnov and E. Minchev. Nonexistence of global solutions of the initialboundary value problem for the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. J. Math. Phys., 36(2):756–762, 1995.
- [4] J. Bellazzini, V. Benci, C. Bonanno, and A. M. Micheletti. Solitons for the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. Adv. Nonlinear Stud., 10(2):481–499, 2010.
- [5] Vieri Benci and Donato Fortunato. Solitary waves of the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation coupled with the Maxwell equations. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 14(4):409–420, 2002.
- [6] Philip Brenner and Wolf von Wahl. Global classical solutions of nonlinear wave equations. Math. Z., 176(1):87–121, 1981.
- [7] Wei Ming Cao and Ben Yu Guo. Fourier collocation method for solving nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. J. Comput. Phys., 108(2):296–305, 1993.
- [8] David Cohen, Ernst Hairer, and Christian Lubich. Conservation of energy, momentum and actions in numerical discretizations of non-linear wave equations. Numer. Math., 110(2):113–143, 2008.
- [9] Robert Dautray and Jacques-Louis Lions. Mathematical analysis and numerical methods for science and technology. Vol. 5, Evolution problems, I. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992.
- [10] A. S. Davydov. Quantum mechanics. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1976. Translated from the second Russian edition, edited and with additions by D. ter Haar, International Series in Natural Philosophy, Vol. 1, Pergamon International Library of Science, Technology, Engineering and Social Studies.
- [11] E. Y. Deeba and S. A. Khuri. A decomposition method for solving the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. J. Comput. Phys., 124(2):442–448, 1996.
- [12] P. G. Drazin and R. S. Johnson. Solitons: an introduction. Cambridge Texts in Applied Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1989.
- [13] D. B. Duncan. Symplectic finite difference approximations of the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 34(5):1742–1760, 1997.
- [14] Lawrence C. Evans. Partial differential equations, volume 19 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1998.
- [15] Zai-hui Gan, Bo-ling Guo, and Jian Zhang. Sharp threshold of global existence for the Klein-Gordon equations with critical nonlinearity. Acta Math. Appl. Sin. Engl. Ser., 25(2):273–282, 2009.
- [16] Zaihui Gan. Cross-constrained variational methods for the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equations with an inverse square potential. Commun. Pure Appl. Anal., 8(5):1541–1554, 2009.
- [17] David Gilbarg and Neil S. Trudinger. Elliptic partial differential equations of second order. Reprint of the 1998 ed. Classics in Mathematics. Berlin: Springer, 2001.
- [18] J. Ginibre and G. Velo. The global Cauchy problem for the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. Math. Z., 189(4):487–505, 1985.
- [19] J. Ginibre and G. Velo. The global Cauchy problem for the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. II. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 6(1):15–35, 1989.
- [20] A. M. Grundland and E. Infeld. A family of nonlinear Klein-Gordon equations and their solutions. J. Math. Phys., 33(7):2498–2503, 1992.
- [21] Semion Gutman. Fréchet differentiability for a damped sine-Gordon equation. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 360(2):503–517, 2009.
- [22] Semion Gutman. Parabolic Regularization For Sine-Gordon Equation. International Journal of Appl. Math and Mech., 6(20):66–93, 2010.
- [23] Jun-Hong Ha and Shin-Ichi Nakagiri. Quadratic optimal control problems for nonlinear damped second order systems in Hilbert spaces. In Proceedings of the Second World Congress of Nonlinear Analysts, Part 4 (Athens, 1996), volume 30, pages 2261–2272, 1997.
- [24] Junhong Ha and Semion Gutman. Optimal parameters for a damped sine-Gordon equation. J. Korean Math. Soc., 46(5):1105–1117, 2009.

- [25] Junhong Ha and Shin-ichi Nakagiri. Existence and regularity of weak solutions for semilinear second order evolution equations. *Funkc. Ekvacioj, Ser. Int.*, 41(1):1–24, 1998.
- [26] Junhong Ha and Shin-ichi Nakagiri. Identification problems for the damped Klein-Gordon equations. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 289(1):77–89, 2004.
- [27] Junhong Ha, Shin-ichi Nakagiri, and Hiroki Tanabe. Fréchet differentiability of solution mappings for semilinear second order evolution equations. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 346(2):374–383, 2008.
- [28] Tae Gab Ha and Jong Yeoul Park. Global existence and uniform decay of a damped Klein-Gordon equation in a noncylindrical domain. Nonlinear Anal., 74(2):577–584, 2011.
- [29] Wenyi Huang and Jian Zhang. Instability of the standing waves for nonlinear Klein-Gordon equations with damping term. Appl. Math. Comput., 213(2):522–528, 2009.
- [30] Slim Ibrahim, Mohamed Majdoub, and Nader Masmoudi. Global solutions for a semilinear, two-dimensional Klein-Gordon equation with exponentialtype nonlinearity. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 59(11):1639–1658, 2006.
- [31] Roman Kosecki. The unit condition and global existence for a class of nonlinear Klein-Gordon equations. J. Differential Equations, 100(2):257–268, 1992.
- [32] Stig Larsson and Vidar Thomée. Partial differential equations with numerical methods, volume 45 of Texts in Applied Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003.
- [33] S. Li and L. Vu-Quoc. Finite difference calculus invariant structure of a class of algorithms for the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 32(6):1839–1875, 1995.
- [34] J.L. Lions. Optimal control of systems governed by partial differential equations. Translated by S.K. Mitter. (Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften. Band 170.) Berlin-Heidelberg-New York: Springer-Verlag. XI, 396 p., 1971.
- [35] J.L. Lions and E. Magenes. Non-homogeneous boundary value problems and applications. Vol. II. Springer-Verlag, 1972.
- [36] Shūji Machihara. The nonrelativistic limit of the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. *Funkcial. Ekvac.*, 44(2):243–252, 2001.

- [37] Shuji Machihara, Kenji Nakanishi, and Tohru Ozawa. Nonrelativistic limit in the energy space for nonlinear Klein-Gordon equations. *Math. Ann.*, 322(3):603–621, 2002.
- [38] Nader Masmoudi and Kenji Nakanishi. From nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation to a system of coupled nonlinear Schrödinger equations. *Math. Ann.*, 324(2):359–389, 2002.
- [39] Shin-ichi Nakagiri and Jun-hong Ha. Optimal control problems for damped Klein-Gordon equations. In Proceedings of the Third World Congress of Nonlinear Analysts, Part 1 (Catania, 2000), volume 47, pages 89–100, 2001.
- [40] Shin-ichi Nakagiri and Junhong Ha. Constant parameters identification problems of coupled sine-Gordon equations. In *Inverse problems and spectral theory*, volume 348 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 77–91. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004.
- [41] Kenji Nakanishi. Scattering theory for the nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation with Sobolev critical power. *Internat. Math. Res. Notices*, (1):31–60, 1999.
- [42] Jong Yeoul Park and Jae Ug Jeong. Optimal control of damped Klein-Gordon equations with state constraints. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 334(1):11–27, 2007.
- [43] P. J. Pascual, S. Jiménez, and L. Vázquez. Numerical simulations of a nonlinear Klein-Gordon model. Applications. In *Computational physics (Granada, 1994)*, volume 448 of *Lecture Notes in Phys.*, pages 211–270. Springer, Berlin, 1995.
- [44] Franz Schwabl. Advanced quantum mechanics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, third edition, 2005. Translated from the German original by Roginald Hilton and Angela Lahee.
- [45] I. E. Segal. The global Cauchy problem for a relativistic scalar field with power interaction. *Bull. Soc. Math. France*, 91:129–135, 1963.
- [46] Jalal Shatah. Normal forms and quadratic nonlinear Klein-Gordon equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 38(5):685–696, 1985.
- [47] Walter Strauss and Luis Vazquez. Numerical solution of a nonlinear Klein-Gordon equation. J. Comput. Phys., 28(2):271–278, 1978.
- [48] Roger Temam. Infinite-dimensional dynamical systems in mechanics and physics. 2nd ed. Applied Mathematical Sciences. 68. New York, NY: Springer, 1997.

[49] Yves Tourigny. Product approximation for nonlinear Klein-Gordon equations. IMA J. Numer. Anal., 10(3):449–462, 1990.